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Geoffrey Hick                       Mike Bradford
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Statement of Compliance 
Hon Brendon Grylls MLA 

Minister for Regional Development; Lands; Minister Assisting the Minister for State Development.

In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006 we hereby submit for your  

information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report for the Western Australian Land Information 

Authority, trading as Landgate, for the year ended 30 June 2011.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

The report is presented in four sections:

Overview of the Authority;   -

Authority performance;  -

Significant issues and trends; and  -

Disclosures and legal compliance.   -
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Chairman’s Foreword

As Western Australia’s Land Information Authority, Landgate is the trusted primary source of location 
knowledge for the State. The provision of reliable and accurate location-based information is critical to 
support the strategic priorities of Government, and forms the basis for community and business planning.

The Authority is founded on dual objectives: the provision of fundamental location information and services, 
including the State’s survey, mapping, titles and valuations functions; and the marketing of location-based 
products and services to generate a fair commercial return for the State.

The past year has presented many challenges for Landgate. Record low levels in property market activity 
has adversely affected the Authority’s revenue base with document registrations at the lowest level  
since the early 1990s.

I am pleased to report that Landgate has responded to these challenges in a disciplined and strategic 
manner by reducing expenditure, identifying reform initiatives to enhance productivity and making difficult 
but necessary changes to its operations.

These changes included the suspension and review of the iLand work program in its current form. This 
decision was taken when it became clear the business case was no longer viable in light of increasing costs 
and low transaction levels in a subdued market. Key elements of the iLand program will be progressed to 
deliver enhanced registration processes and ensure Landgate is prepared for the introduction of electronic 
conveyancing through the National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS).

A major achievement this year has been the recognition of Landgate’s Midland premises as an asset and the 
significant impact this has had on the financial position of Landgate and its future profitability.

Strategic alliances remain central to our future growth. Landgate has continued to forge partnerships with 
other Government agencies to collect and administer location-based data that can be utilised to deliver 
better services for agencies and their customers. 

Landgate has sought to diversify its income streams through mutually beneficial partnerships and business 
ventures. The groundwork has been laid for Landgate to become the Australasian supplier of a precision 
street level imagery service with three-dimensional measurement capability. Once launched, this service 
is expected to expand quickly to meet growing demand from businesses and Government agencies  
across Australia.

“Our core responsibilities include 

providing location knowledge 

services for Western Australia with 

the utmost integrity, efficacy and 

accuracy. The challenge is to use 

location knowledge as an asset to 

develop innovative products and 

services that provide a return to 

the State.”
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Chairman’s Foreword - cont.
Landgate has continued to lead the way in increasing access to location information held by WA Government 
agencies. The Location Information Strategy has been developed in collaboration with the WA Land 
Information System (WALIS) community to establish the framework for the State to manage its location 
information in the future. 

The Strategy was endorsed by the Minister for Lands in October 2010. Cabinet approval is being sought 
for the implementation of the Strategy through a staged work program to be coordinated by Landgate and 
delivered by various State Government agencies.

A key project that Landgate plans to progress under the Location Information Strategy is the delivery of 
the Statutory Approvals Tracking System (StATS). This system will directly support development of WA’s 
resource sector by enabling industry and agencies to track the approvals progress for significant State 
projects.  A functional prototype was developed to demonstrate the potential capability of the system. 
Subject to Cabinet approval, the production system will be developed and launched during 2011/12.

I thank the Minister, Hon Brendon Grylls MLA for his continuing interest and support for Landgate’s 
endeavours, particularly the Location Information Strategy.

I welcome our new Board member, Ms Karen Gadsby, who joined the Landgate Board in December 2010. 
Karen brings a wealth of business acumen and experience to the Board and is already helping to set the 
strategic direction for the Authority. I would also like to thank my fellow Board members for their support 
and enthusiastic contribution to the Board.

As I conclude my first full year as Chairman of Landgate’s Board of Management, I would like to commend 
the Chief Executive Mr Mike Bradford, the Corporate Executive team and Landgate staff for their efforts 
during a challenging period. I look forward to working closely with Mike and the committed team at Landgate 
during the year ahead.

Geoffrey Hick
CHAIRMAN
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Chief Executive Foreword

Over the course of 2010/11 Landgate has been impacted by the prevailing business conditions, particularly 
the suppressed property sector in WA. The Authority has also responded to Government expectations for 
greater efficiency by State agencies. Landgate has had to exercise fiscal restraint and make tough decisions 
to ensure its ongoing financial sustainability.

Despite these difficult times, Landgate has remained focused on its customers. The Authority has continued 
to meet service level targets and maintain the integrity and accessibility of its information. During 2010/11 
the organisation made a significant investment in securing the stability of online systems to meet customer 
needs and expectations. Robust monitoring and reporting processes have been established to ensure 
ongoing system reliability into the future.

The Pathway to Greater  Capacity Program was also established to boost productivity, deliver efficiencies 
and release capacity. Detailed investigations identified key areas of reform and substantial changes to 
financing of Government Service Delivery, IT investment, and product and service rationalisation will be 
implemented during 2011/12 to deliver benefits to all areas of the business.

The Interest Enquiry service has continued to expand as more interest reports have been added to the 
system. Over 2010/11 Landgate undertook extensive consultation to promote the importance of property 
interest disclosure. The Authority will continue to work with peak industry associations to provide education 
on property interests and support proposed reforms which facilitate greater transparency in property 
transactions in WA.

Over the past year Landgate’s award-winning information service, the Shared Land Information Platform 
(SLIP) has continued to function as a valuable portal to location-based data from a range of Government 
sources. A considerable portion of the technical infrastructure that powers SLIP is nearing the end of its 
intended life and requires redevelopment. A SLIP Enabler strategy has been developed that sets out the 
planned evolution of SLIP to meet future needs and support services such as Interest Enquiry as well 
as initiatives delivered under the Location Information Strategy. This redevelopment will be implemented 
through a staged work program as part of Landgate’s contribution to the Location Information Strategy.
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Chief Executive Forword - cont. 
The Authority has continued to prepare for the availability of electronic conveyancing in 2012/13 and play a 
leading role in the progress of the NECS initiative. During 2010/11 the National E-conveyancing Development 
Limited (NECDL) Company was established to build and operate an e-conveyancing enterprise. WA has 
invested in NECDL to become one of the initial shareholders, along with Victoria, New South Wales and 
Queensland.

Landgate’s Innovation Program was launched to an external audience in February 2011 to showcase the 
Authority’s progress on innovation and unveil a website where agencies can access innovation tools to use 
in their own organisation. Landgate will continue to encourage innovation within the Authority and across 
the public sector.
 
Ongoing implementation of Landgate’s corporate philosophy of ‘One Business’ has resulted in tangible 
changes designed to facilitate integration and collaboration across the organisation. A single customer call 
centre has been set up and Valuation Services staff are being relocated so that most of Landgate’s people 
now work at the main business premises in Midland.

A new corporate structure has been formulated and is in the process of being established. A key part of the 
organisational restructure has been the formation of a new Corporate Executive team. I congratulate Ms 
Jodi Cant and Mr Ian Hyde on their respective appointments as General Manager, Business Development 
and General Manager, Strategy and Reform. I also welcome Mr John Wreford, who joins Landgate as 
General Manager, Finance, Information and Legal Services.

I thank the Chairman, Mr Geoffrey Hick, and the Landgate Board of Management for their strategic advice  
and support. I also recognise the efforts of all Landgate staff over the past year and look forward to continuing 
to build Landgate as the trusted source of location knowledge for all Western Australians.

Mike Bradford
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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Landgate’s Role and Function

Landgate is the trading name of the Western Australian Land Information Authority. It is a statutory authority 
with commercial powers established under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 (the Act) and is 
accountable to the Minister for Lands.

As part of its establishment, the Government positioned Landgate to be the trusted primary source of much 
of the Government’s fundamental location information datasets. 

The information systems and services that Landgate provides - on behalf of Government – are vital to the 
efficient operation of the property market and maintenance of the rating and tax base in WA. 

Landgate’s main objectives and functions are to:

Maintain the quality and integrity of the Government’s location information services (including the State’s  »
survey, mapping, titles and valuations functions);

Provide access to location information; and »

Earn a fair commercial return on the State’s location information asset, with a view to sustaining  »
reinvestment in high quality systems and services. 

In performing these interdependent functions, Landgate is required to be cost-effective, act on prudent 
commercial principles and support the sustainable economic, social and environmental management and 
development of the State.

Location information is a valuable asset linking and integrating a range of economic, social and physical 
data to a geographic location, transforming it into location knowledge. Providing people with access to 
knowledge of any location is powerful as it helps them make well-informed decisions. In meeting Government 
expectations, a significant role for Landgate is to provide the leadership necessary for the growing demand 
for location information-related products and services.

1.1 About Landgate
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Vision

Solving tomorrow’s challenges led by knowledge of any location.

Our Purpose: To deliver quality and innovative location information systems, products and services to our 
customers and provide economic, environmental and social benefits to society.

Our Identity: A leading information provider in the knowledge economy.  

We are recognised for:

Integrity in being the trusted primary source of location knowledge. 

Innovation in integrating a wide range of expertise, data and technology and working collaboratively to 
create value for customers and stakeholders.

Excellence in performing our role and in contributing to the success of others.

Leadership in bringing industry and Government stakeholders together.

Values

Landgate is an organisation of people who act with honesty, integrity, respect and openness, and work 
together as one team that reflects the diversity of the WA community. Our values encapsulate the spirit of 
working collaboratively with others and include:

Community »  - by showing respect and taking responsibility.

Excellence »  - in everything we do.

Creativity »  - in what we do and how we do it.

Growth and Learning »  - by growing our business and our people.

Celebration and Recognition »  - of what we do, how we do it and our people who do it.

Sustainability »  - by contributing to a sustainable environment and providing a sustaining environment 
for our people.
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1.2 Operational Structure
Board of Management

Landgate has a Board of Management that sets the strategic direction for the Authority. The Chief Executive 
has the responsibility for the alignment of the Authority’s operations with the strategic direction. 

In carrying out its responsibilities as the Authority’s governing body, the Board performs the following key 
roles:

In collaboration with the Minister and Corporate Executive, sets the Authority’s strategic direction and  »
budget parameters;

Adopts business development plans; »

Approves and monitors major business transactions; »

Determines appropriate performance measures and monitors the Authority’s performance; »

Determines strategic policy; »

Oversees strategic risk management; and »

Oversees the Authority’s system of internal control. »

The Board comprises seven members and meets on a monthly basis.
 

Legislation Administered

For information on Legislation Administered by Landgate see Appendix One.
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Board of Management

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The primary function of the Committee is to assist the Board and Chief Executive so they are able to deliver 
their corporate governance responsibilities.  

The Committee provides an oversight into the following key areas of responsibility:

Assessing the processes related to the Authority’s risk and control environment. »

Overseeing the financial reporting. »

Assessing the process relating to the Authority’s compliance. »

Evaluating the internal and external audit function. »

The Committee meets on a quarterly basis.

Marketing and Business Development Committee

The Marketing and Business Development Committee was established in 2010. It was established for the 
purpose of promoting the commercialisation of the Authority’s products and services, and enhancing the 
generation of non-regulatory income.

This Committee comprises a minimum of two and up to three Board Members, one of whom is the Chief 
Executive, and senior staff of the Authority.  

The Committee provides strategic input to the Authority’s Strategic Development Plan, and oversight of its 
Marketing Plan, in the following key areas:

Strategic marketing and communications objectives. »

Business development. »

Innovation, research and development programs. »

The development of a market-orientated culture. »

The Committee meets at least four times per year.
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Engaged in chartered accounting 

since 1966, and specialises in 

providing business advice to 

management and company 

boards on a range of matters 

including finance, taxation, 

business planning and strategies.

Geoffrey Hick
Chairman

Landgate’s 
Board of Management
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Previous experience as a 

non-executive member 

on various boards and 

committees of financial 

institutions, with a strong 

legal background.

Katrina Burton
Board Member

A varied background in 

agriculture, agribusiness, 

finance, business 

development, project 

management, marketing, 

strategic planning and 

communications.

Peter Cooke
Deputy Chair
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A chartered accountant 

with broad commercial 

and finance experience 

gained as an executive in 

a multinational company 

as well as on listed, 

government and not for 

profit boards.

Karen Gadsby
Board Member

An industry leader in service 

delivery and standards.  

Expertise in strategic 

management and law.

Susan Thomas
Board Member
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Mike Bradford
Chief Executive

Significant expertise in IT 

strategic planning and project 

management, and the design 

and implementation of 

technology-based solutions.

Paul White
Board Member

Experienced in managing all 

aspects of the production and 

dissemination of location information 

products including topographic map 

production, remote sensing and 

geographic information systems.   

He has managed complex IT projects 

and has experience in strategic 

planning, project development and 

technology management. 
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One Business

Landgate has continued to make tangible progress in pursuing its ‘One Business’ philosophy. Greater 
alignment has been achieved between the strategic direction of the organisation and the execution of 
specific change initiatives. ‘One Business’ has enabled a more integrated approach to be implemented for 
the conceptualisation, creation and delivery of products and services.

Landgate has also been able to better capitalise on the knowledge and expertise of land valuation through 
the relocation of many valuation staff to Landgate’s head office in Midland. 

Structure

The overall organisational structure was further refined in 2010/11 with the appointment of the respective 
General Managers. The past year has also seen an emphasis on enhancing communication and information 
flow and to maximise the value generated by all of the Authority’s resources.

The new structure embodies integration, collaboration and innovation, improves efficiency and has a sharper 
focus on customers, and sales.

This structure is outlined as follows:

Operations (Bruce Roberts, A/General Manager): Focused on meeting existing client needs and promoting 
and growing the sales of current products and services.

Business Development (Jodi Cant, General Manager): Focused on developing new partnerships, new 
markets and using Landgate’s intellectual capital to generate future products and services. Jodi has been 
instrumental in Innovation and Research & Development throughout the Authority.

Finance, Information and Legal Services (John Wreford, General Manager): Focused on enabling the 
business through financial and legal advice and information technology services. 

Strategy and Reform (Ian Hyde, General Manager): Focused on providing high level policy advice, long 
term planning, reforming major business processes and positioning Landgate and its staff for the future.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 19L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal compliance

Organisational Chart

Minister

Operations
Business 

Development
Finance Information 
and Legal Services

Strategy 
and Reform

Internal Audit  
and Risk 

Management

Board

Chief 
Executive

Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee

Marketing and 
Business Development 

Committee
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Mike was appointed Chief Executive of Landgate 

in June 2009.  In this role he has led the 

transformation of the business including the 

foundation of the new commercial sales team 

and the development of a Location Information 

Strategy for Western Australia. Mike has 

international experience leading cross-government 

initiatives.  He holds a Bachelor of Surveying 

Degree and a Masters in Management Studies 

(Project Management).  Mike is also the Surveyor 

General of Western Australia.

Mike Bradford
Chief Executive

Landgate’s 
Leadership Team
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John joined Landgate as General 

Manager Finance, Information and 

Legal Services in 2011, armed with 

a wealth of private sector experience 

in the accounting, banking, IT and 

legal services industries.  He has 

significant experience in consulting to 

Government, recapitalising businesses 

and commercialising products  

and services.

John Wreford
General Manager 

Finance, Information and Legal Services

Ian has undertaken a number of 

leadership roles in Landgate, including 

Executive Director Information Access, 

Director of Business Development and 

Director International Services, and has 

previously been the Registrar of Titles 

for WA. Ian is highly experienced  

in strategic planning, policy formulation, 

change management and business 

reform.

Ian Hyde
General Manager 
Strategy and Reform
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In 2010 Jodi was appointed 

General Manager Business 

Development, having previously 

held a number of other roles at 

Landgate.  In this role she leads 

the development of new business 

opportunities and innovation for 

the Authority.  

Jodi Cant
General Manager 

Business Development

Bruce joined Landgate in 1993 and, 

prior to acting in the role of General 

Manager Operations, he held the 

positions of Registrations Branch 

Manager and Registrar of Titles.  He 

has also held a number of other roles 

including Manager of Landgate Legal 

and Deputy Commissioner  

of Titles. 

Bruce Roberts
A/General Manager 

Operations
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1.3 Performance Management Framework
Outcome-Based Management Framework

Landgate’s strategic directions and business priorities reflect its commitment to the State Government’s 
goals to deliver economic, environmental and social benefits to Western Australia. 

It achieves this in the following ways:

Landgate directly contributes to the State Government’s goals by underpinning land and property  »
markets, as well as the State’s rating and taxing base. Landgate directly contributes by underpinning 
economic activity and assisting in the management of the State in a socially and environmentally 
responsible manner.

Allows access to Government data through the continued expansion of the Shared Land Information  »
Platform (SLIP), contributing to the national Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information (CRCSI); 
and supporting growth in small to medium-sized enterprises in the spatial information industry. 

A partnership with Curtin University to provide improved job opportunities and career paths for young  »
people, particularly in the field of spatial sciences.

A focus on increased Aboriginal employment through the implementation of an Aboriginal Employment  »
Strategy.

Leadership in the development of the Location Information Strategy which encourages collaboration  »
between Government agencies, strives for greater efficiency and improved decision-making. This 
Strategy also encourages partnerships with industry and academia.

The application of satellite technology to help those living in rural and isolated areas become better  »
informed about climatic and geographic indicators that impact their communities, environment and 
livelihoods.

The Authority is a vital contributor to all the Government’s stated goals and planned outcomes. These are 
incorporated in the Authority Performance section and the Disclosures and Legal Compliance sections of 
this Annual Report.
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Changes to Outcome-Based Management Framework

There have been no changes to the Authority’s desired outcomes, services and key performance indicators 
from the previous reporting year.

Shared Responsibility

While Landgate is not directly responsible for the delivery of other agencies’ desired outcomes and services, it 
has been integral in the development and implementation of the cross-governed SLIP Enabler initiative which 
delivers real-time access to location information across all levels of Government, business and community.
 
The Authority also continues to collaborate with Government agencies to progress the implementation of the 
National Address Management Framework (NAMF) in Western Australia.  Landgate provides agencies with 
advice on NAMF compliance and offers services that support NAMF implementation, such as data cleansing 
and address verification services.
 
The West Australian Land Information System (WALIS) is a dynamic partnership of Government agencies, 
businesses and educational institutions, working together to manage and promote the State’s geographic 
information.  
 
Landgate is also implementing a program of work called iSpatial that has broader application across the sector.  
iSpatial methods enable agencies to work cooperatively in an online environment to collect and maintain the 
State’s location information. This form of collaboration reduces duplication of effort and generates significant 
efficiencies for Government. It also allows agencies to develop their own value-added location information 
products and have these products updated automatically as a consequence of updates to the authoritative 
source.
 
Another example of Landgate’s “shared responsibility” philosophy is the development and implementation 
of the State’s first Location Information Strategy. Landgate is leading the Strategy in conjunction with 
government, industry and academia.
 
The Interest Enquiry service has also been expanded significantly in 2010/11. Landgate is collaborating with 
key stakeholders who are developing a policy to make interest searches a standard part of the real estate 
sales process. This provides buyers with essential location information about interests which affect the use of 
land to help them make better informed decisions.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 25L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

authority performanceoverview of the authority significant issues and trends disclosures and legal compliance

2 Authority Performance
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2.1 Strategic Development Plan and 
      Statement of Corporate Intent

Landgate operates in accordance with a Strategic Development Plan (five-year business plan) and Statement 
of Corporate Intent (annual operating plan) as agreed between its Board and the Minister for Lands. 

These plans are required under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 and set out Landgate’s strategic 
objectives, proposed achievements, financial requirements and business strategy.

The Strategic Development Plan and Statement of Corporate Intent also provide the foundation for more 
specific planning and reporting. An example of this is the Asset Investment Plan and the Corporate Balanced 
Scorecard. The Statement of Corporate Intent sets out the targets and initiatives that are planned to be 
achieved in the next financial year. The Annual Report is a summary of the achievement of these planned 
targets and initiatives at the end of the financial year.

 

Hillarys, 2011
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LEGISLATION AND
GOVERNMENT POLICY Land Information Authority Act 2006

STATE BUDGET
Whole-of-Government platform to deliver the Government’s goals 
for Western Australia

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT
PLAN (SDP)

Landgate’s five year strategic business plan - business directions 
and strategic priorities 

Key audience: Minister, Treasurer, Board and senior management

Commercial in confidence

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE
INTENT (SCI)

Annual business and operating plan

Underpinned by SDP, capital investment plan and budget

Key audience: Government, staff and stakeholders 

BALANCED SCORECARD

Sets out annual targets and key performance indicators

Underpinned by SCI

Links to internal performance management system1 
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e.g: Marketing, HR, IT, Operations

Asset Investment Plan
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Landgate has been laying the foundations for a sustainable future based on prudent commercial 
and operating principles in a tight financial environment. Landgate continues to work towards a 
sustainable return from its traditional land information services and new commercial products and 
services, while exercising fiscal restraint and increasing capacity by improving efficiencies in all 
areas of its business.

Financial Summary

Operating Result

The property market continued where it left off in 2009/10, trending lower with no clear indication of improving 
in the near future.  Registration activity levels, the main source of Landgate’s revenue, finished 17% below 
2009/10, their lowest level since 2000/01.  Despite this impact, overall operating revenue finished above 
target and 2.7% above the previous year due mainly to additional valuation revenue whilst the lower activity 
levels for key revenue sources were partially offset by fee increases.  Sales of land information data and 
imagery also reflected a subdued property market.  

Normal expenditure growth on 2009/10 was tightly contained (to 0.9%) due to the instigation of savings 
initiatives in response to the prevailing economic conditions.  However also due to these conditions, an 
impairment loss of $10.5m was recognised for the iLand Program which pushed overall expenditure $7.3m 
above target and $11.6m above the previous year.

Despite all of these influences, a profit of $858,000 was recorded which was a significant achievement given 
such a challenging year.   

2.2 Highlights and Achievements

financial 
outcomes
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2010/2011  
Target (1)

($’000)

2010/2011  
Actual
($’000)

2009/2010  
Actual
($’000)

Statement of Income

Revenue

- Operating     101,344 102,475       99,751

- State Government       34,883   35,208       31,910

Total Revenue     136,227 137,683     131,661

Operating Expenditure     129,521 136,825     125,185

Operating Result         6,706        858         6,476

Statement of Financial Position (2)

Total Assets     127,945 170,960     171,596

Total Liabilities       31,000   62,820       63,882

Total Equity (Net Assets)       96,945 108,140     107,714

(1) 2010/11 Estimated Actual result as published in the 2011/12 Budget Statements.  

(2) The 2010/11 Target does not include the recognition of the change in the method of accounting of the lease arrangements 
of the Midland building and associated land from an operating lease to a finance lease during 2010/11.  Further information 
is contained in Note 6 ‘Change in prior year comparatives’ to the financial statements.

Further explanations of significant variances are contained in Note 50 ‘Explanatory Statement’ to the financial 
statements.

Financial Summary

financial 
outcomes
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Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure for the year totalled $14.6m.  Investment continued in the Authority’s e-Business 
initiatives, business infrastructure required to support these initiatives and existing business arrangements, 
asset replacement and improving the quality of land information.  Significant investment included the 
ongoing replacement of various information technology assets, Innovation, iLand, Enterprise Infrastructure 
and the Midland building upgrade.

Outcome Summary

The subdued property market had a significant impact on Landgate’s key performance indicator - land 
registrations.  With land registration actions finishing below target and after including the additional costs 
associated with the impairment loss relating to the iLand Program, the unit costs finished above target.

Land information actions finished above target and, although expenditure ended above budget, this achieved 
a result below the unit cost target.

Valuations completed were above target and with costs being contained despite this year being the final 
year of the triennial general valuation of the Perth metropolitan region, the unit costs were below target.

financial 
outcomes



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011

authority performance

31L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

overview of the authority significant issues and trends disclosures and legal compliance

Outcome Summary

Quality Measures
Target

2010/2011
Actual

2010/2011
Actual

2009/2010
Actual

2008/2009

Land registration actions    2,380,750 2,002,153    2,220,536    1,996,833

Land information actions (a)    1,594,140 1,755,594       776,206       637,800

Valuations completed    1,738,261 1,807,113    1,522,078    1,253,931

WALIS Key Result Areas                  6               6                  6                  6

Unit Cost Measures
Target

2010/2011
Actual

2010/2011
Actual

2009/2010
Actual

2008/2009

Land registration actions        $32.00 $39.69        $32.16        $32.12

Land information actions (a)        $19.52 $18.49        $37.58        $41.07

Valuations completed        $13.49 $12.80        $14.91        $17.56

WALIS Key Result Areas    $300,833 $292,667    $322,000    $280,000

financial 
outcomes

(a) The number of land information actions and unit cost for the target and actual for 2010/11 differs from 
what was previously reported as a consequence of a change in the measurement methodology of actions 
in respect to aerial photography. 

More detailed information regarding Landgate’s key performance indicators is presented in the section 
‘Disclosures and Legal Compliance’. 
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To ensure the ongoing delivery of core public services, Landgate continues to focus on maintaining 
the quality and integrity of its operations and services to meet the expectations of Government, 
customers and the community. Landgate is transforming business systems and processes to 
deliver better services and improve efficiency, value and capacity that can be redirected to fulfil 
other business needs. The strategies to achieve this include implementation of the ‘One Business’ 
philosophy, Pathway to Greater Capacity and iSpatial programs.

One Business 

The philosophy of ‘One Business’ was introduced with the aim of improving integration, communication and 
collaboration across Landgate. The philosophy is being carried out through a suite of change strategies that 
include:

a corporate restructure that has been designed to streamline operations, create synergies and develop  »
a more agile and multi-skilled workforce; 

initiatives that nurture an innovative culture and facilitate the exchange of ideas between staff, such as  »
the Landgate ‘SmartAsk’ and a wiki website where staff can provide, maintain and retrieve corporate 
knowledge; and

learning and development programs to help staff embrace change, value our customers and adopt a  »
holistic approach to problem solving.

Other initiatives under “one Business” have resulted in a single customer contact centre and the relocation 
of most staff to one main business location in Midland.

business 
process and 
improvement
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One Business - cont.

Sales Directorate

Landgate is working towards the establishment of a Sales Directorate which will report directly to the Chief 
Executive. This decision was made in response to the importance of sales and expanding the Authority’s 
markets. The new directorate will incorporate staff with expertise in customer contact and advice, account 
management, commercial services and marketing and communications. 

All Landgate employees are encouraged to embrace the Landgate brand and share responsibility for 
increased sales of products and services.  The key focus areas are property information, land information, 
imagery and consultancy services.

Customer Call Centre

The Customer Contact Centre continues to broaden it’s scope in order to provide a streamlined service for 
customers.  Staff have been trained to manage property and valuation queries enabling the Valuation Team 
to process their obligations in a more efficient manner due to the increased knowledge of their colleagues.

Relocation

As part of the ‘One Business’ approach, Landgate relocated 54 Property and Valuation Service (PVS) staff 
from Perth to the Authority’s Midland premises during 2010/2011, with the remaining staff to move by 
December 2011. It is expected that significant savings will be realised from this move in the 2012/2013 
financial year, taking into account the rent and outgoings for the five-floor premises in Perth.

business 
process and 
improvement
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Pathway to Greater Capacity

During the year Landgate developed the Pathway to Greater Capacity Program to implement fundamental 
changes to daily operations to release capacity, deliver efficiencies and enhance productivity.  The program 
has:

Commenced financial reform initiatives to provide better cost management, efficient service provision  »
and ensure full cost recovery of appropriated functions;

Agreed to a target of reducing ICT operational costs by 10% over three years; »

Commenced work to reform the registration business processes to enable automation in preparation  »
for electronic conveyancing through the National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS), which is  
expected to become operational in Western Australia in 2013/14;

Decommissioned a number of products and services that had low demand and/or low value; »

Initiated the adoption of a Business Strategy Framework to harmonise and align existing strategies, plans  »
and initiatives with the strategic goal and direction of Landgate and enable prioritization of corporate 
initiatives and optimal use of resources;

Commenced work to establish a Business Enterprise Architecture Office and a Business Program Office  »
to define and deliver Landgate’s investment in alignment with the strategic direction of the agency; 
and

Developed a Products and Services Catalogue for clearer identification of all of Landgate’s products  »
and services that will be launched in the near future.

business 
process and 
improvement
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iLand 

Due to increased cost estimates and a continuing subdued property market, Landgate decided to suspend 
the iLand program in March 2011. Critical components of the program will be progressed through the 
Authority’s Pathway to Greater Capacity program.

A review is being carried out to investigate the most cost-effective way for Landgate to extract digital data 
from its Transfer of Land Act forms that would enable electronic examination and automatic registration. 

This review will consider ‘off the shelf products’ which can be integrated into Landgate’s SmartRegister 
system. It will also consider the work completed as part of the iLand project. The review will be complete 
and a recommendation will be made in September 2011.

iSpatial

Landgate has launched iSpatial which is a work program to modernise the systems and processes associated 
with producing maps. The purpose of the iSpatial program is to automate data collection, facilitate the 
reuse of existing data and enable different organisations to maintain a single dataset. The program will 
allow Landgate to become more agile in its response to market needs by providing the means to develop 
products more easily and with minimal cost.

The cornerstone of the iSpatial program is to capture all of Landgate’s mapping data in a single,  
comprehensive database with automatic updating functionality. This database will be able to integrate data 
from multiple sources and allow it to be used for many different applications.

Landgate is pursuing opportunities to establish mutually beneficial partnerships with other Government 
agencies where trusted users can add and edit data to build a comprehensive information resource that can 
be used for a range of purposes. This will help to reduce duplication and increase data consistency across 
Government and will assist Landgate to become the ‘location services hub’ on behalf of, and in partnership 
with, other Government agencies.

business 
process and 
improvement
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Data Quality and Integration

The Authority has an ongoing commitment to maintain and improve our core datasets so they are fit for 
purpose and available for online access. These datasets are critical to Government and industry and their 
value is enhanced when combined with other Government data.

Landgate is in consultation with the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC) to develop a 
collaborative geographic capture and maintenance program for Western Australia’s road network data. The 
purpose of this collaborative approach is to adopt the “capture once, use multiple times” philosophy.

The technology required for delivering a joined-up-Government data management environment has been 
investigated and successfully piloted.

Sustainable geographic data management methods have broader Government benefits and will be captured 
as an initiative under Landgate’s component of the Location Information Strategy. This will broaden 
stakeholder engagement and participation.

Expanding SLIP

Over the past 12 months, Landgate has worked with SLIP (Shared Land Information Platform) developers 
to identify paths to market for the developed ‘proof of concept’ applications. 

This feedback has identified improvements that can be made to SLIP Enabler and has formed part of the 
SLIP Enhancements projects. This includes a dynamic download tool to increase the access methods to 
data via SLIP Enabler. 

It is anticipated that with better service availability and increased attention to SLIP Enabler, through 
Landgate’s Location Information Strategy, new products and more SLIP Enabler subscribers will be reached 
over the next 12 months.

Landgate is facilitating joint ventures that use SLIP Enabler and is developing its role as a manager of 
location knowledge on behalf of other Government agencies.  

business 
process and 
improvement
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National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS)

A National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS) is one of the priorities of the National Partnership 
Agreement, established by the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) to deliver a Seamless National 
Economy (SNE).  As part of the establishment of the NECS, during the year, Landgate became a shareholder 
in National E-Conveyancing Development Ltd (NECDL), a company formed to enable the development of 
the NECS.

NECDL have estimated that it will require approximately $75 million to build NECS and it is proposed that  
around $54 million of this will come from the four major banks and/or other non-government investors 
and $21 million will come from the States of Western Australia (Landgate), New South Wales, Victoria and 
Queensland. The majority shareholding in NECDL will be retained by the Government sector.

Under this proposed funding model, Landgate’s total contribution will be $5.25 million and its final equity 
position in NECDL will be in the vicinity of 12.75%.       

The agreed first stage funding proposal required the States and Banks to invest $8 million ($1 million from 
each shareholder) for the design phase (Primary Stage A). This approach ensured that the company has 
adequate funding to maintain its operations during the Primary Stage A (preparation of a comprehensive 
design specification for the platform) and provide all shareholders a clear view of the costs of the IT build 
(Primary Stage B) for the NECS platform and subsequent funding requirements.  

The Australian Registrars National Electronic Conveyancing Council (ARNECC) chaired by Bruce Roberts 
is now operating in conjunction with the NECS State Project Team in relation to the NECS initiative. 
ARNECC has a current focus on national industry consultation and discussions with NECDL on financial 
and documentation issues. There is ongoing revision of the draft Electronic Conveyancing National Law 
(ECNL), Functional and Non-Functional Requirements, Model Operating Requirements (MOR) and Model 
Participation Rules (MPR), required to implement the national system. 

business 
process and 
improvement
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Continuously Operating Reference Stations (CORS)

The Authority continues to make good progress with its state-wide network of Continuously Operating 
Reference Stations (CORS). The network is part of the Commonwealth Government’s National Collaborative 
Research Infrastructure Strategy, under the direction of AuScope Limited,  to significantly upgrade Australia’s 
geodetic infrastructure. 

This world-class initiative to gather information about the earth’s surface supports research into a number 
of areas including climate change and tectonic motion. CORS data is also used in surveying, mapping, 
navigation and engineering and downstream applications such as precision control of earth-moving and 
agricultural machinery.

The CORS Project now has 15 sites streaming Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) data to Geoscience 
Australia, Canberra. A further 11 sites are at various stages of planning and completion. It is expected there 
will be 26 sites completed by June 2013.

business 
process and 
improvement

Kalgoorlie Super Pit, 2011
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Real-Time Positioning Strategy

Landgate has undertaken an assessment, on behalf of the Government of Western Australia, of the 
feasibility of Government involvement (particularly Landgate) in a networked real time positioning service 
(RTP) throughout Western Australia.
 
This included research and analysis of the current situation influencing RTP provision and use throughout 
Western Australia, which looked at current RTP services which are currently available, provision of these 
services, international research and development, industry views on the role of Government, substitute 
positioning goods and services, barriers to adoption and situational experiences within other jurisdictions.

Landgate believes that networked CORS RTP has many compelling product features, however the 
assumption that the majority of potential consumers would purchase services based on this technology 
if it was available is not reflected by experiences in Australia to date or supported by market research. 
Consequently, financial analysis showed a significant gap between costs and revenue over a nine year 
period. 
 
As a result, it was determined that at this time, sufficient benefit would not be returned to the State from 
investment in a statewide CORS RTP service for Western Australia. 
 
To meet the objective of preventing duplicate infrastructure being created where there are AuScope CORS 
in place, Landgate will investigate measures to make data from the AuScope CORS stations available to 
private sector operators able to incorporate it in their own service offerings.

business 
process and 
improvement
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Landgate continues to deliver quality products and services that meet the needs of today’s 
customers and stakeholders. Landgate’s commercialisation strategy draws together efforts in market 
focus and analysis, innovation and research, intellectual property, product development lifecycle, 
pricing and partnering to assess opportunities and bring commercial products to market with 
increased agility and speed. Mutually beneficial partnerships are central to the commercialisation 
strategy and cycle. 

Quality Products and Services
Landgate has developed and modified its products and services through ongoing customer feedback, 
engagement and a bi-annual Customer Satisfaction Survey which was last completed in November 2010.

The Customer Satisfaction Survey found that overall, 95% of Landgate’s customers were satisfied with its 
services. Over half of these customers were very satisfied and would recommend Landgate. The Customer 
Satisfaction Survey also provides information on customer needs. As a result of this research, formal 
feedback mechanisms and account servicing in 2010, Landgate focused its effort on improving system 
performance and in our online systems achieved an availability of 99%.
 
A new online Map Viewer application with enhanced functionality was also developed in 2010 after extensive 
customer consultation. 

Landgate also participates in the Customer Service Council, which is an industry representative body that 
meets with the executive team every quarter to review performance, market trends and future plans.

Landgate runs extensive training programs in conjunction with industry bodies to provide specific education 
in land information and location knowledge. A number of these training sessions contribute to continuing 
professional development for the participants in partnership with the industry. 

customer and 
stakeholders
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Market Orientation

Channel Development

Landgate formed a working group to carry out an investigation into the Authority’s current channels to 
market. The subsequent report, presented to the Corporate Executive, outlined options for increasing 
product research and sales in new and existing markets as a way of reducing costs and increasing profits.

The report identified five strategic options with accompanying analysis and one was adopted with an 
accompanying implementation plan and timeframe.

The recommendation reflects Landgate’s commitment towards a sales-oriented structure and is therefore 
expected to have a greater focus on its sales channels and the anticipated economic benefits from each 
channel.

Interest Enquiry

Landgate is continuing to develop Interest Enquiry into an informative product that will continue to serve 
public and Government interests while delivering better informed decision-making.
 
This cutting-edge product works by providing users with a map viewer, combined with spatial searching 
capability, to identify and display interests relating to a particular area of land. 
 
An interest is considered anything which affects the use or enjoyment of land, is bound by some form of 
legislation and has a recognised Government authority as its custodian. Interests can be regarded as rights, 
restrictions and obligations.

Interest Enquiry has had great success with a new product called Summary of Interest Reports and a new 
pricing structure, implemented in the first quarter of 2011. 

customer and 
stakeholders
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Interest Enquiry - cont.
There are now 22 interests available through Interest Enquiry, including:

Residual Current Devices, »

Commercial Building Disclosure for Energy Efficiency, »

Geothermal Titles,  »

Unexploded Ordnance,  »

Native Vegetation,  »

Public Drinking Water Source Area, »

Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate, and »

Contaminated Sites Database. »

Landgate continues to collaborate with the Department of Commerce and the property industry via  the 
Australian Institute of Conveyancers and the Real Estate Institute of Western Australia to promote property 
interests searching and disclosure. 
 
The Authority is also working with other peak industry associations to include property interest education 
as part of the industry’s Compulsory Professional Development program.
 
Agreements established through SLIP (Shared Land Information Platform) that provide a legal basis for 
engagement with custodian agencies on providing access to Interest Enquiry to brokers have been circulated 
to agencies. They are expected to be complete by the end of 2011.

customer and 
stakeholders
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Strategic Alliances and Partnerships

Earthmine

The earthmine Mars Collection System is designed and developed by earthmine to be the first truly scalable 
mobile 3D mapping system. The technology captures high resolution stereo panoramic imagery, collected 
automatically on a distance based interval at regular driving speeds.
 
Together with its partners Geomatic Technologies (GT) and earthmine Inc (USA), Landgate is in the process of 
forming a company called earthmine Australia Pty Ltd (eA).  It is intended that eA will operate as the regional 
partner of earthmine Inc (USA) in the Australian and New Zealand market, providing 3D mapping services 
in Australia and New Zealand. Through a network of selected VARs (Value Added Resellers) covering a vast 
market base, including media, property and the asset management markets, eA will offer products and 
services  that will encompass data capture, data processing, library archive and hosting.

Landgate has made significant progress towards finalising Earthmine Australia PTY LTD company and the
project is in the final stages of negotiation.

Landgate’s Board of Management has approved the project in principle, with preparation of submissions to 
the Board of Management, Minister for Lands and the Treasurer nearing completion.  These submissions 
will seek approval for Landgate to enter into a commercial arrangement with the project partners to form 
earthmine Australia and allow Landgate to offer the Earthmine imagery solution in the Australian and New 
Zealand region.

In the past 12 months, Landgate completed further market analysis, refined the business plan and defined 
the intent of the shareholder agreement.  It has also purchased an Earthmine ‘MARS Collection System’ 
from Earthmine Inc in America which is currently being utilised to capture imagery across Australia and New 
Zealand and has added another revenue stream to the business venture. 
 
The Geelong City Council roads and parks were captured in March 2011 and the data is being used to 
perform audits on tree assets throughout Geelong. Perth City Council has also been using the pilot project 
Earthmine imagery, which was captured in October 2009, for a variety of uses including asset management 
and urban planning.  Since that pilot project, the City of Perth and the City of Swan have both committed to 
earthmine data capture in 2011/12.

customer and 
stakeholders
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Strategic Alliances and Partnerships - cont.

Research and Development

Landgate has a dynamic research and development capability through an alliance with Curtin University, 
activities with other universities and technology partners and within the Cooperative Research Centre for 
Spatial Information (CRCSI). Landgate is an essential participant of the CRCSI, which will invest $160 million 
over the next 8 years in end user driven research. This research brings together industry, government and 
academia with the broad aim of spatially enabling Australasia, and the agency uses this as our primary 
mechanism for our research and development requirements.

The agency has continued to be proactive in setting research directions within the CRCSI, directing ongoing 
research that supports Landgate’s advancement in the areas of real-time positioning, digital geographic 
information, precision street level imagery and spatial data infrastructures such as SLIP. These research 
programs also contribute to the investigation and implementation requirements of the Location Information 
Strategy.
 
Landgate has been focusing its research efforts on projects that centre on intelligence extraction and 
delivery capabilities from a range of sensor models. This involves deriving ‘business ready‘ information in 
an appropriate language and format for a range of spatial and non-spatial business applications.

This may be attributed topographic features from conventional remotely sensed image and elevation data or 
defined street level objects from mobile mapping. This  could also be applied to produce address-matched 
asset condition reports or vegetation assessments.
 
The Spatial Infrastructure Program within the CRCSI is undertaking research to deliver a vibrant, sustainable 
and participatory Australian and New Zealand spatial market place for Landgate to vend products and 
services. This will also be used to develop the local and regional spatial sector.
 
Other initiatives include the development of specialist training modules with Curtin University, modernising 
positioning infrastructure capabilities and applications within the Positioning Program of the CRCSI, 
using Australian Research Centre (ARC) linkage grants to enhance services such as FireWatch and our 
intelligence around metropolitan landform subsidence  and developing algorithms and expertise to position 
for involvement in carbon markets and other climate change related opportunities.

customer and 
stakeholders
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Strategic Alliances and Partnerships - cont.

FireWatch Early Warning

Landgate’s Satellite Remote Sensing Services (SRSS) has teamed up with the Fire and Emergency Services 
Authority (FESA) and the University of WA’s School of Computer Science and Software Engineering to 
develop a national system to protect infrastructure, communities and properties through better bushfire 
prediction and modelling.  The $2.8M project is funded through the Digital Regions Initiative which is 
administered by the Department of Broadband, Communications and the Digital Economy.  This three- 
year project leverages upon Landgate’s award winning FireWatch service, which has been using satellite 
remote sensing to monitor bushfires across all of Australia for over 10 years and is currently used by many 
emergency services agencies in Australia.  So far, the project has built a GIS interface which allows fire 
spread simulations to be run in less than three minutes and this is now being tested by FESA personnel.  A 
website has also been developed that shows the fire spread simulations using real-time fire hotspots from 
the Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) on-board the Terra and Aqua satellites.

International

Landgate continues to be recognised internationally as a leader in the administration of land information,  
spatial data infrastructures, satellite remote sensing and associated products and services.  

The Authority’s training and consultancy team continues to strengthen existing relationships, building on 
the successful delivery of products and services, in regions such as Indonesia, Vietnam and Mauritius.  
New relationships are being established through short-term training and consultancy for countries such as 
Cambodia, Bhutan, China and Botswana. 

Following the successful launch of IndoFire in 2009, Landgate provided advanced training to key Indonesian 
Government agencies.

In the last 12 months, the Authority has hosted several study tours and official tours by overseas Government 
delegations from, regions such as Bhutan, Vietnam and China. 

customer and 
stakeholders
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Innovation 
Landgate’s Innovation Program is continuing to move from strength to strength. It supports the Authority’s 
‘One Business’ culture which encourages staff to make innovation and collaboration part of everyday 
activities. 

The program was the first of its kind to be implemented within the Western Australian Public Sector. Following 
the successful launch of the Innovation Program, Landgate has presented detailed workshops to a range of 
organisations to help them increase their innovation capacity. The Department of Mines and Petroleum has 
recently followed suit by introducing its own Innovation Program, based on Landgate’s model. 

The Innovation forum, which continues to perform well with new ideas being posted each week, is one way 
Landgate increases its intellectual capital by nurturing knowledge-sharing. Over 200 staff members have 
been trained in innovative thinking.

Innovation has played a role in funding several major initiatives across Landgate, including SmartAsk, Online 
SLICP application and Earthmine.

The successful program will continue to fund a diverse portfolio of initiatives, building on the 40-plus projects 
that have been funded so far. The processes involved in the Innovation Program are being refined to direct 
a greater focus towards business efficiency and industry collaboration.

customer and 
stakeholders
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Location Information Strategy

In collaboration with the Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) community, Landgate has 
developed a Location Information Strategy for Western Australia. The strategy addresses the collection, 
management and use of WA’s location information to 2015 and beyond. The strategy was endorsed by the 
Minister for Lands in October 2010 and a proposal to implement the strategy through a staged program has 
been submitted for approval by State Cabinet.
 
A priority for the program of work is to make decision-making and processes, particularly infrastructure 
investment and delivery of services, timelier and more cost effective. This will be addressed through the 
following key activities:
 
Statutory approvals tracking system (StATS) – Led by the Department of Premier and Cabinet, this project 
is being progressed through the Ministerial Taskforce on Approvals, Development and Sustainability. 
The use of location information will provide a better understanding of the relationships between major 
projects, including dependencies on existing and planned infrastructure capacity and outcomes of previous 
development assessments. During 2010/11 Landgate delivered a functional prototype system and captured 
technical and security requirements for a production system to be deployed in 2011/12. This work has 
served as an effective demonstrator for proponents, State agencies and ministers.
 
Regional and urban planning - Led by the Department of Planning and Western Australian Planning 
Commission, this project will deliver improved regional and urban planning capabilities to guide development 
and more integrated infrastructure planning and delivery. A location-based view of State development will be 
established, more clearly identifying key trigger points for development activities across Western Australia. 
The information delivered through this project also underpins the statutory approvals system.
 
Strategic capture and delivery of location information – Landgate will lead a more comprehensive, better 
coordinated, capture program across Western Australia that will reduce costly duplication and improve 
service delivery in regional areas where distance is a key factor and accurate, current information is most 
urgently needed to support planning, communications and emergency management. It will also provide a 
clearer picture of changes over time, better illustrating the outcomes of public and private investment in 
regional Western Australia.

customer and 
stakeholders
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The Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) 

WALIS is a unique alignment of State Government agencies, Local Government, the private sector and 
academia that share, and make available, location information across Western Australia. The role of WALIS 
is to continue to facilitate and coordinate access to, and use, of high-quality location information.
 
In 2011, WALIS celebrates 30 years of operation and is broadly recognised as one of the longest-standing, 
most successful geospatial partnerships in the world. During 2010/11, WALIS provided a foundation for the 
establishment of the Location Information Strategy and continued to expand the partnership across the 
public and private sectors.

Ongoing development of the Location Information Strategy for Western Australia was carried out through 
the WALIS by involving a large number of stakeholders and industry partners such as the Surveying and 
Spatial Sciences Institute (SSSI), the Spatial Industries Business Association (SIBA) and the Cooperative 
Research Centre for Spatial Information (CRCSI).

WALIS launched a new on-line application process for the State Land Information Capture Program (SLICP) 
which has been well-received across both State and Local Government agencies. It will significantly enhance 
the value of the program by reducing duplication in data acquisition.
 
During 2010/11, WALIS went ahead with preparations for a large international conference to be held early 
in the 2011/12 financial year. The Seventh International Symposium on Digital Earth (ISDE7) is to be held 
in conjunction with the WALIS Forum and the State Natural Resource Management Conference. Hosting 
ISDE7 will be a significant opportunity for Western Australia.

customer and 
stakeholders
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Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP) Enabler

The SLIP Enabler is the technical platform of infrastructure and services that enables the connection, 
management and delivery of information from multiple sources. 

A SLIP Enabler strategy has been developed which outlines the vision and development of the program 
as a service delivery infrastructure for Government data as part of the Location Information Strategy. The 
strategy is used as a guide to continually improve the SLIP Enabler, seek sources of funding and ensure that 
SLIP Enabler remains the recognised data infrastructure for the State. 

Following its enhancement to increase data and service availability, there has been a focus on increasing 
its capacity to support increased data access and use, improving system interoperability and reducing 
duplication across Government to realise the goals of the strategy.

Over the past 12 months, Landgate has worked with SLIP (Shared Land Information Platform) developers 
to identify paths to market for the developed proof of concept applications. This work was funded by the 
Authority’s Innovation Program.

This feedback has identified improvements that can be made to SLIP Enabler and has formed part of the 
SLIP Enhancements projects. This includes a dynamic download tool to increase the access methods to 
data via SLIP Enabler. 

Landgate is continuing to focus on the increasing need for better service delivery, through the SLIP Enabler 
infrastructure and SLIP developers, within the framework of the Location Information Strategy. 

It is anticipated that with better service availability and increased attention to SLIP Enabler under Landgate’s 
Location Information Strategy, new products and more SLIP Enabler subscribers will be achieved over the 
next 12 months.

Landgate is facilitating joint ventures that use SLIP Enabler and is developing its role as a manager of 
location knowledge on behalf of other Government agencies.

customer and 
stakeholders
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Meeting Government Requirements

Landgate continues to provide secure information systems and services to ensure the integrity of the land 
titles register and valuation rolls.  
 
Landgate is on target to meet its performance targets in terms of number of valuations made and cost per 
valuation.  The property valuation database continues to be kept up to date to provide a sound and reliable 
base of the values required to support the equitable assessment of the State’s property rates and taxes.

customer and 
stakeholders
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Investing in human resources is critical to support the sustainability of Landgate into the future. It is 
Landgate’s people who enable the Authority to achieve its vision and realise its potential.

Landgate is endeavouring to increase the representation of Aboriginal employees through its 
Aboriginal Employment Strategy, which improves opportunities, training and support for Aboriginal 
people at all levels of the Authority.

Landgate will continue to lead the public sector by investing in its people and providing workplace 
flexibility to support a strong work/life balance. Landgate is proud to report that staff engagement 
levels at the Authority exceed Australian benchmarks, and build on its growing reputation as an 
industry leader and employer of choice.

People Culture and Leadership 

Skills Acquisition Plan & Leadership Program

The Skills Acquisition Plan for 2010/11 focused on delivering compliance and strategic learning outcomes. 
It was designed to develop business capabilities and empower change within Landgate. The program 
included Accountable Ethical Decision Making, Change Leaders Program and Wangkanij Boodja Kaatany 
(Aboriginal Cross Cultural Awareness Workshops).

To support this program, a range of workshops have been developed and offered to employees that help 
build and share commercial knowledge. These cover areas such as business acumen, due diligence and 
contract management. These workshops will continue to be matched with the business direction and 
ongoing commercialisation of the business.

The Landgate Leadership Program is scheduled to commence in March 2012.

learning, 
growth and 
innovation
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People Culture and Leadership - cont.

Schools Program

Landgate continues to demonstrate its commitment to the community through close involvement with local 
schools, especially through the School, Community and Industry Link Program (SCIL).

This program provides support to schools through breakfast clubs and reading programs, with help from 17 
school volunteers who are all Landgate staff.

Landgate is investigating the introduction of Indigenous Traineeships to further engage with the local 
community.

Indigenous Recuitment and Training

Landgate is endeavouring to increase the representation of Aboriginal employees through the implementation 
of an approved Aboriginal Employment Strategy (WAARRM). WAARRM was launched in December 2010 to 
improve opportunities, training and support for Aboriginal people at all levels of the organisation.

The strategy has been promoted throughout the Authority and been included on the internal website and in 
an Employee Induction Package.

Landgate’s ongoing commitment to Aboriginal employment for the future will see the development of the 
Landgate ‘Aboriginal Recruitment, Retention Articulation Program’ (ARRAP) and ‘Aboriginal Attraction & 
Retention Tips’ (AARRT) documents.

The Authority  recognises that long term retention of Aboriginal staff requires a caring, nurturing and 
understanding environment. An early intiative under WAARRM  is to conduct cross-cultural awareness 
workshops. The workshops are open to all staff and are for people who wish to gain a deeper understanding 
of Aboriginal culture. 

“I was profoundly affected by the 

Aboriginal Cultural Awareness 

training provided by Tim Muirhead 

and Danny Ford.

It was so well constructed and 

delivered. The fact that both white 

and Aboriginal cultures were working 

together to deliver the training and 

did so in a very honest manner was 

very compelling.”

Peter Ormond
Landgate/Employee
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People Culture and Leadership - cont.

Wellness Program

Landgate has recently been recognised for its commitment to staff wellness with a National Work Life 
Balance Award.

Believing that staff performance, job satisfaction and motivation can be improved and that employees need 
to be engaged and equipped to cope with stress and change, the Authority supports a comprehensive 
Wellness Program which features an ongoing calendar of activities.

Over the past 12 months, more than 370 employees have either participated in a range of fitness activities 
such as zumba and pilates or attended informative seminars about mental health and relaxation.

More than 210 employees (approximately 22% of the workforce) also accepted the Authority’s offer to 
provide, subsidized seasonal influenza immunisations.

A series of financial planning seminars, health checks and assessments have also been conducted under 
this program.

Landgate has also entered into partnerships with several organisations who offer employees large subsidies 
on health and fitness-related activities.

Fundraising

Landgate’s strong commitment to the community is demonstrated by its ongoing fundraising ventures for 
local charities. These charities are chosen by Landgate staff and supported by events such as ‘Casual 
Dress Fridays’. The Cancer Council’s Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea and SIDS Red Nose Day. In 2010/11, 
Landgate staff raised $17,470.80 for these charities.

“I have been a participant in a few 

of the different wellness activities 

offered to staff such as pilates, yoga 

and Zumba which I enjoy very much. 

 

I find that I don’t have a lot of time 

before and after work to exercise and 

having it available during lunchtime 

really helps. After, I always feel that 

I can take on the world and win. It 

really lifts my spirit and I’m more than 

ready to get back to work.”

Margaret Rowan
Landgate/Employee
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3.1 Issues and Trends
Economic uncertainty continues to impact the world economy. In Western Australia, the property sector 
remains suppressed, with the number of land transactions processed by Landgate at its lowest level 
since the early 1990s. This will continue to significant impact on Landgate’s regulated revenues, which 
are highly dependant on property market activity. The impact on revenue is not expected to turn around 
in the short term, although it may be eventually offset by the progression of several major resource and 
regional development projects and the implementation of the Government’s Affordable Housing Strategy 
2010/2020. 

Another critical factor shaping Landgate’s operating environment is rapid growth and change in the spatial 
information industry, which is developing faster than many other technological fields. Location-based 
services are allowing the optimisation of transportation planning and intelligent traffic systems. The roll-out 
of the National Broadband Network will remove access barriers and enable a new generation of integrated 
services to be developed. As the spatial information sector grows, the Authority will conduct targeted 
planning and marketing in order to reach its potential and remain competitive. 

In modern economics, knowledge and technology are increasingly holding the key to commercial value. 
There is a growing need and expectation that Government will open up and share more information about 
events, people and places and that data will be integrated and accessible through secure and reliable 
products and services online.

Landgate’s strength lies in the currency and integrity of its services and information. As society expects 
Government to provide a more citizen-centric approach to the delivery of cost-effective and easily accessible 
services, Landgate will continue moving towards providing an even more transparent and evidence-based 
approach to decision-making in a secure environment.
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3.2 Looking Forward
Landgate has a leadership role in providing access to Government data and increasing its use to 
deliver economic, environmental and social benefits to the State. Landgate supports these endeavours 
by operating the business on sound commercial principles, being responsive to customer needs and 
maintaining an ongoing commitment to delivering high quality, cost-effective services. These capabilities 
underpin Landgate’s capacity to facilitate community engagement with Government and enable informed 
decisions and sound policy development. With Cabinet endorsement of the Location Information Strategy, 
Landgate will enhance its role as a leader and facilitator of change in the State Government’s approach to 
the collection, use and management of location information. 
 
Landgate will continue to provide a wide range of reliable land, property and spatial information products 
and services that meet customer needs and bring Government, industry and community stakeholders 
together.

Some of Landgate’s major activities in 2011/12 will include:

Establishment of the Location Information Strategy Implementation Group through the WALIS Framework  »
to deliver a series of Priority Projects and Strategic Initiatives, in partnership with the lead agencies 
identified in the Location Information Strategy.

Implementation of key change initiatives, as part of the Pathway to Greater Capacity Program. Landgate  »
will focus on financial, human resource and information systems reforms, business capability and 
strategy improvement, product and service rationalisation and improved management of its people. 
A restructured approach to registration business improvement will focus on efficiently obtaining digital 
data to enable electronic examination of land transactions and subsequent registrations. This work will 
also enable Landgate to participate in the development of a simple, national automated system for the 
electronic lodgement of registration documents (NECS) that meets the needs of industry and the public 
in Western Australia.

Landgate’s Corporate Information Technology (IT) Plan will support strategies to revolutionise business  »
processes as well as reduce unit IT operating costs by carefully investing in IT that will drive greater 
benefits. Planned initiatives include leveraging the IT service contracts to deliver more cost-effective 
solutions; replacement of priority network and server equipment, personal computers, monitors and 
deployment of a revised desktop strategy solution; and completion of the roll-out of an Electronic 
Document and Records Management System. 
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3.2 Looking Forward - cont.

Expanding SLIP to incorporate more data such as national land information from PSMA and satellite  »
remote sensing data. Subject to Cabinet approval, SLIP will be further improved to support the 
implementation of enhanced urban and regional planning and streamlined statutory approval process 
for major State developments as part of the Location Information Strategy.

Increasing Indigenous employment in Landgate, including more opportunities at entry level for cadetships  »
and traineeships, and working with local groups to maximise Indigenous students’ entry into the spatial 
sciences areas.

 
Landgate’s Innovation Program continues to foster a culture where innovation permeates everyday activity 
and creates new intellectual property for the organisation. Greater alignment between the Innovation 
Program and the opportunities for market growth will be pursued.

Through its relationship networks and partnerships with Government and industry, Landgate will take a 
leadership role in State and national forums to influence key issues and counter threats. Greater engagement 
and cooperation with other organisations will enhance Landgate’s reputation for leadership, innovation and  
as a preferred partner. Cooperative approaches to the collection and maintenance of location information 
will be pursued, particularly with the Department of Environment and Conservation and Department of 
Planning. 

More information on Landgate’s planned achievements and financial outcomes for 2011/12 are set out in 
the Statement of Corporate Intent available on Landgate’s corporate webpage www.landgate.wa.gov.au.
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Independent Audit Opinion

 
Auditor General 

Page 1 of 2 
 

4th Floor Dumas House  2 Havelock Street  West Perth 6005  Western Australia  Tel: 08 9222 7500  Fax: 08 9322 5664 

        
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND INFORMATION AUTHORITY 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2011, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows of the Authority for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit.  The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Western Australian Land Information Authority at 
30 June 2011 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
 

 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Western Australian Land Information Authority 
 
 
Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority. 
The Board is responsible for ensuring that adequate control is maintained over the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other 
property, and the incurring of liabilities in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Board based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority. The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions. 
 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Basis for Qualified Opinion 
The Authority has disclosed in the notes to the key performance indicators that information was 
not available to report the Acceptance and Reuse components of the Key Effectiveness 
Indicator “Useability of WALIS spatial information is determined by user awareness, 
acceptance and reuse”. Therefore, the Authority has not reported actual results for these two 
indicators for 2010-11. As a consequence, the Acceptance and Reuse indicators do not fairly 
represent performance for the financial year. 
 
Qualified Opinion 
In my opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 
paragraph, the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s performance 
and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2011. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and the Australian Auditing Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements. 

 
COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
12 September 2011 
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Murray Smith

Chief Finance Officer
Western Australian Land Information Authority

7 September 2011   

Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive
Member, Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

7 September 2011    

Geoffrey Hick

Chairman
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

7 September 2011   

Certification of the Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority have 
been prepared in compliance with the provisions 
of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper 
accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 
2011 and the financial position as at 30 June 2011. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any 
circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or 
inaccurate.  
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4.1 Financial Statements

note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

INCOME

Revenue  

Provision of services 8 93,254 90,559 

Sale of land information, data and imagery 9 6,272 6,265 

International services 10 358 957 

Interest revenue 11 706 628 

Other revenue 12 1,881 1,342 

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 13 4 0

Total Income 102,475 99,751 

EXPENSES

Employee benefits expense 14 71,013 70,555 

Supplies & services 15 27,202 26,106 

Other expenses 16 7,416 7,806 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 17 11,245 11,470 

Finance costs 18 2,942 3,112 

Accommodation expenses 19 6,533 6,126 

Impairment loss 30 10,474 0 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 13 0 10 

Total Expenses 136,825 125,185 

Profit/(loss) before Grants and Subsidies from State Government (34,350) (25,434)

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Statement of Comprehensive Income - For the year ended 30 June 2011
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note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

Grants and Subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 20 34,476 31,366 

Resources received free of charge 21 732 544 

Total Grants and Subsidies from State Government 35,208 31,910 

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalent benefit/(expense) 858 6,476 

Income tax equivalent benefit/(expense) 36 (710) (1,792)

Profit/(loss) for the period 148 4,684 

Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 35 718 1,336 

Income tax on items of other comprehensive income 35 0 (28)

Total Other Comprehensive Income 718 1,308 

Total Comprehensive Income for the period 866 5,992 

The 2009/10 comparative amounts are restated in accordance with AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 
due to the change in the accounting treatment of the lease on land and building. Refer to Note 6 ‘Change in prior period 
comparatives’. 

Refer also to Note 51 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Statement of Comprehensive Income - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

As at 
1 July 2009 

restated 
($’000)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22 10,515 13,396 12,322 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 23 12 12 12 

Inventories - maps 23 31 144 

Receivables 24 24,986 11,957 12,764 

Amounts receivable for services 26 4,450 183 654 

Prepayments 27 902 994 882

Accrued interest 28 143 188 109 

Total Current Assets 41,031 26,761 26,887 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2011
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note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

As at 
1 July 2009 

restated 
($’000)

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 23 1,446 1,176 899 

Amounts receivable for services 26 26,663 27,703 24,978 

Receivables 24 1,215 5,637 1,553 

Other financial assets 25 1,667 0 0 

Plant, furniture and equipment 29 4,330 4,594 4,792 

Leasehold improvements 29 8,572 8,815 8,538 

Intangibles 29 25,027 34,789 34,289 

Building 29 43,500 42,550 42,550 

Land 29 12,018 13,998 12,553 

Deferred tax assets 36 5,491 5,573 7,205 

Total Non-Current Assets 129,929 144,835 137,357 

TOTAL ASSETS 170,960 171,596 164,244 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.  
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note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

As at 
1 July 2009 

restated 
($’000)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 31 5,567 7,002 4,785 

Repayable grant 0 0 45 

Current tax liabilities 289 0 0 

Finance lease 32 2,262 2,083 1,915 

Provisions 33 12,723 12,446 10,885 

Other current liabilities 34 5,767 4,006 3,880 

Total current liabilities 26,608 25,537 21,510 

Non-current liabilities

Finance lease 32 31,533 33,795 35,878 

Provisions 33 4,679 4,550 6,485 

Total non-current liabilities 36,212 38,345 42,363 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 62,820 63,882 63,873 

NET ASSETS 108,140 107,714 100,371 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.  
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note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

As at 
1 July 2009 

restated 
($’000)

EQUITY 35

Contributed equity 74,502 74,942 73,591 

Reserves 20,046 19,328 18,020 

Retained earnings 13,592 13,444 8,760 

TOTAL EQUITY 108,140 107,714 100,371 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Statement of Financial Position - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.  

The 2009/10 comparative amounts are restated in accordance with AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ due 
to the change in the accounting treatment of the lease on land and building.  AASB 101 also requires the presentation of a 
third Statement of Financial Position at the beginning of the earliest comparative period.   Refer to Note 6 ‘Change in prior 
period comparatives’. 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 67

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends

L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

disclosures and legal compliance
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Statement of Changes in Equity - For the year ended 30 June 2011

note

Contributed 
Equity

$000
Reserves

$000

Retained 
Earnings

$000
Total Equity

$000

Balance at 1 July 2009  80,635 0 6,233 86,868 

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior 

period errors 6 (7,044) 18,020 2,527 13,503 

Balance at 1 July 2009 restated 35 73,591 18,020 8,760 100,371 

Total comprehensive income for the year 0 1,308 4,684 5,992 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

   Other contributions by owners 1,351 0 0 1,351 

Balance at 30 June 2010 restated 74,942 19,328 13,444 107,714 

Balance at 1 July 2010 restated 35 74,942 19,328 13,444 107,714 

Total comprehensive income for the year 0 718 148 866 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 0 

   Other contributions by owners 8 0 0 8 

   Distribution to owners (448) 0 0 (448)

Balance at 30 June 2011 74,502 20,046 13,592 108,140 

The 2009/10 comparative amounts are restated in accordance with AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 
due to the change in the accounting treatment of the lease on land and building.  Refer to Note 6 ‘Change in prior period 
comparatives’. 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows - For the year ended 30 June 2011

note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts

Provision of services 83,898 85,977

Sale of land information data and imagery 6,372 7,326

International services 357 942

Interest received 752 549

GST receipts on sales 1,382 1,174

GST receipts from taxation authority 4,196 3,558

Other receipts 3,462 1,268

Payments

Employee benefits (69,991) (70,221)

Supplies & services (24,126) (23,336)

Other expenses (10,105) (8,279)

Accommodation (3,598) (5,828)

Finance costs (5,679) (3,160)

GST payments on purchases (5,017) (4,812)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 37(b) (18,097) (14,842)
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note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 11 9 

Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (11,957) (10,983)

Investments (1,667) 0 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (13,613) (10,974)

Cash flows from Financing Activities

Payments

Finance lease payments (2,083) (1,916)

Repayable grant repayments 0 (45)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (2,083) (1,961)



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 70

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends

L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

disclosures and legal compliance

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Statement of Cash Flows - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

note
2011

($’000)

2010
restated

($’000)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Inflows  
(Outflows)

Cash flows from State Government

Service appropriations 31,066 28,458

Holding account drawdowns 183 654

Taxation equivalents - refund 0 237

Taxation equivalents - payments (67) (221)

Net cash provided by State Government 31,182 29,128

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,611) 1,351

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 14,584 13,233

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 37(a) 11,973 14,584

The 2009/10 comparative amounts are restated in accordance with AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 
due to the change in the accounting treatment of the lease on land and building. Refer to Note 6 ‘Change in prior period 
comparatives’.  

The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011

1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

The Authority’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Authority has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates.

Although the Authority is required to operate on prudent commercial principles, Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’ designates the Authority as a 
not-for-profit entity for purposes of compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards.

Early adoption of standards

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Interpretation unless specifically 
permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements’. No Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or 
amended but are not operative have been early adopted by the Authority for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2011.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions.  Several of 
these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, 
details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention except land and building which are periodically valued to fair value

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

(b) Basis of preparation - cont.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have 
been made in the process of applying the Authority’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant 
effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next  
financial year.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Authority.  There are no related bodies.  

(d) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the 
current financial year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

(e) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer’s Instruction 
955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and are credited directly to 
Contributed Equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal. See Note 35 ‘Equity’.

(f) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction. Where the rendering of services can not be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only 
to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership and control transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.    
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

(f) Income - cont.

Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Authority gains control of the 
appropriated funds.  The Authority gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited 
into the Authority’s bank account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and 
Finance. See Note 20 ‘Service appropriations’ for further commentary.

Grants, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue from grants, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised at fair value when the 
Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.  
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition 
that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions 
were undischarged as at the end of the reporting period, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those 
undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes.   

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Gains/losses  

Realised and unrealised gains/losses are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains/losses 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non current assets.
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(g) Income tax

The Authority operates within the national tax equivalent regime (NTER) whereby an equivalent amount in 
respect of income tax is payable to the WA Treasury. The calculation of the liability in respect of income tax 
is governed by NTER guidelines and directions approved by Government.  

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, the Authority is required to comply with AASB 112  
‘Income Taxes’.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused  
tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rate expected to 
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or 
substantively enacted. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and 
taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain 
temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability. No deferred tax asset or 
liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a 
business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable 
profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in equity.
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(h) Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements and building costing over $1,000 are recognised 
as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items costing 
less than $1,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total or where the asset 
is capitalised for management purposes).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building are initially recognised 
at cost.  

For items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building acquired at no cost or 
for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land 
and building and the historical cost model for furniture, equipment, plant and leasehold improvements.  
Land is carried at fair value less accumulated impairment losses. The building is carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and less accumulated impairment losses.  Furniture, equipment, plant and 
leasehold improvements are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.   

The fair value of land is determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference 
to the recent market transactions, where market based evidence is available. This is typically the case for 
land within the Perth metropolitan area. Land outside the Perth metropolitan area is valued on the basis of 
existing use, where market based evidence is not available. The fair value of the building is determined on 
the basis of market buying values by reference to recent market transactions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

(h) Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building - cont.

Valuations are provided annually by the Valuer General and brought to account at 30 June each year. The 
frequency of valuations ensures the carrying amounts do not differ materially from the assets’ fair value as 
at the end of the reporting period.

When the building is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

The Valuer General provides the valuations in accordance with the Valuation of Land Act. Under the Act, 
the Valuer General is independent and cannot be directed by any party (including the Authority) as to the 
method or the outcome of a valuation.          

Derecognition           
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of land and building, any revaluation surplus relating to that item 
is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.          
   
Asset revaluation surplus          
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets as described in Note 29 ‘Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, intangibles, 
land and building’.           
           
Depreciation/amortisation          
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated/amortised over their useful 
lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation/amortisation of other assets is calculated on the straight line basis, 
using rates which are reviewed annually.          
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(h) Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building - cont.

Estimated useful lives for each class of asset are:         
   
Furniture      11 years     
Equipment    8 - 15 years     
Computer equipment   3 - 5 years     
Plant     15 - 20 years     
Leasehold Improvements  7 - 20 years     
Building     50 years     
           
Plant under development is classified as ‘Works in Progress - Plant’.

Leasehold Improvements under development are classified as ‘Works in Progress - Leasehold 
Improvements’.

(i) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
Acquired and internally generated intangible assets costing over $5,000 are capitalised. The cost of utilising 
the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are 
immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired 
at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.  

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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(i) Intangible assets - cont.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit 
(estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets 
controlled by the Authority have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The estimated useful lives for 
each class of intangible asset is: 
 
Service delivery software and related project costs  1-10 years
 
The value of intangible assets include: 

major computer software packages acquired plus costs associated with preparing the software for its  »
intended use and;
major internally developed software plus the associated development costs. »

 
Intangible assets under development are classified as ‘Works in Progress - Service Delivery’. 
 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried 
forward when the future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured.  Other development costs 
are expensed as incurred.    

 
(j) Impairment of assets

Items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land, building and intangible assets are 
tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Where there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised. As the Authority is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 
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(j) Impairment of assets - cont.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated or where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in the useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of assets’ future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting date 
irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

See Note 30 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

See Note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and Note 24 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.    

(k) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See Note 33 ‘Provisions’.   

(i)  Provision - employee benefits

Annual leave
The liability for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is 
settled.  
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(i)  Provision - employee benefits - cont.

Annual leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions as well as 
the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as current liability as the Authority does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period 
is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability  
is settled.  

Long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using 
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions as well as 
the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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(i)  Provision - employee benefits - cont.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Authority does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. Conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the 
Authority has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred leave 
The provision for deferred leave relates to employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund 
an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value 
of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis 
as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a non-current provision until the fifth year.

Purchased leave 
The provision for purchased leave relates to employees who have entered into an agreement to self-
fund up to an additional ten weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of 
salary set aside for employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave and is reported as part 
of annual leave provision.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)  administers public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.

Eligible employees contribute to  the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to 
new members since 1987 or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump 
sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.
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(i)  Provision - employee benefits - cont.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  
However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the Authority to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the 
related superannuation liability.

The Authority has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS.  The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred 
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the Authority to the GESB.  The concurrently funded part of the 
GSS is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the 
concurrently funded GSS obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes.  The Authority 
makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  These contributions extinguish 
the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

See also Note 2(l) ‘Superannuation expense’.
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(ii)  Provisions - other

Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax, are not employee 
benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which 
they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not 
included as part of the Authority’s ‘Employee benefit expenses’.  The related liability is included in the 
Employment on-costs provision.    

See Note 16 ‘Other Expenses’ and Note 33 ‘Provisions’.

(l) Superannuation expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, and the GESBS. The employer contribution paid to the 
GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(m) Leases

The Authority has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for buildings, office equipment 
and vehicles where the lessors effectively retain all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
items held under the operating leases. Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease 
term as this represents the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as 
assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of 
the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as leased 
land and building. The leased building is depreciated over the period during which the Authority is expected 
to benefit from its use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the 
reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.
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(n) Financial instruments

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Authority has two categories of financial instruments: 

Receivables, investment; and »

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  »
 
Financial Instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents »

Restricted cash and cash equivalents »

Receivables »

Investment »

Amounts receivable for services »
 
Financial Liabilities 

 Payables »

 Finance lease liabilities »

 Other current liabilities »
 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value. The transaction cost or face 
value is equivalent to the fair value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there 
is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is 
not material.

See Note 41 ‘Financial Instruments’. 
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(o) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
 

(p) Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (i.e. impairment).

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible 
are written off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is 
raised when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

See also Note 2(n) ‘Financial instruments’ and Note 24 ‘Receivables’. 

(q) Investments

Investments have been measured at cost as there is no ready market for the investment and fair value 
cannot be reliably measured.

See also Note 25 ‘Other financial assets’. 
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(r) Accrued salaries

The accrued salaries suspense account (see Note 23 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists  
of amounts transferred annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely  
meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur in that year instead of the 
normal 26. 

Accrued salaries (see Note 31 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a few days of the financial year end.  The Authority 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value.
 

(s) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Authority receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash 
and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the 
emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover asset replacement.

See also Note 20 ‘Service Appropriations’ and Note 26 ’Amounts receivable for services’. 
 

(t) Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services at fair value, as they are generally settled within 
30 days.  

See also Note 2(n) ‘Financial instruments’ and Note 31 ‘Payables’. 
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(u) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as at fair 
value. Where the resources received represents a service that the authority would pay for, a corresponding 
expense is recognised. Receipt of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income 
from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

(v) Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rates in existence at the dates of the 
transactions. 
 

(w) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most 
appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued at average cost. 
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3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

The judgements made by management in the process of applying accounting policies had no significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.   
 

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

There were no key assumptions made concerning the future, and no other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.   
 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 that impacted on the Authority.

2009-5    Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 
Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 & 139].        
           

 Under amendments to AASB 117, the classification of land elements of all existing leases has 
been reassessed to determine whether they are in the nature of operating or finance leases. 
As leases of land & buildings recognised in the financial statements have not been found  
to significantly expose the Authority to the risks/rewards attributable to control of land, no 
changes to accounting estimates have been included in the Financial Statements and Notes to 
the Financial Statements.
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(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard - cont. 

 Under amendments to AASB 107, only expenditures that result in a recognised asset are eligible 
for classification as investing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. All investing cash flows 
reported in the Authority’s Statement of Cash Flows relate to increases in recognised assets.  

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation 
unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Authority has not applied early any following Australian 
Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued and which may 
impact the Authority. Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply these Standards and Interpretations 
from their application date:           
     

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 
9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12].

The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the disclosure 
of categories of financial assets.  The Authority does not expect any 
financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The disclosure of 
categories of financial assets in the notes will change. 

1 Jan 2013
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 
110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 
16, 1039 & 1052]

This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes.  There is 
no financial impact on the Authority resulting from the application of 
this revised Standard.

1 Jan 2011

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework 
consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general 
purpose financial statements.

The Standard does not have any financial impact on the Authority. 
However it may affect disclosures in the financial statements of the 
Authority if the reduced disclosure requirements apply. DTF has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the new 
Standard for agencies.  

1 July 2013
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting 
Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure 
requirements into these pronouncements for application by certain 
types of entities.

The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the 
Authority. However this Standard may reduce some note disclosures 
in financial statements of the Authority. DTF has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the amendments to these 
Standards for agencies. .

1 July 2013

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 101 & AASB 1054] 

This Amending Standard removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve 
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting 
Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. DTF has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the amendments 
to these Standards for agencies.

1 July 2011
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 
101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 
1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042] (October 2010)

This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes as well as 
minor presentation changes to the notes to the Financial Statements.  
There is no financial impact on the Authority resulting from the 
application of this revised Standard.

1 Jan 2011

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on 
Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7]

This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards, introducing additional presentation and disclosure 
requirements for Financial Assets.

The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the 
Authority.  DTF has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies.

1 July 2011
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments       

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments. The Standard was reissued on 6 Dec 2010 
and the Authority is currently determining the impact of the Standard.  
DTF has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard for agencies.
  
This amending Standard makes consequential adjustments to other 
Standards as a result of issuing AASB 9 Financial Instruments in 
December 2010. DTF has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard for agencies.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 
9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137,139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 
2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]       
       

1 Jan 2013

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures    

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve 
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting 
Standards.        

1 July 2011
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning  
on/after

AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Trans-Tasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 
128, 132 & 134 and Interpretations 2, 112 & 113]    
    
This amending Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054 Australian 
Additional Disclosures, removes disclosure requirements from  
other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve 
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting 
Standards.

1 July 2011

(c) Changes in accounting estimates

There were no changes in accounting estimates that will have an effect in the current period or is expected 
to have an effect in future periods.  
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6. Change in prior period comparatives

The Authority reviewed the lease arrangements of the Midland building and associated land from where 
it operates. This review concluded that the earlier treatment of accounting for the building and land as an 
operating lease was not appropriate and that the arrangement should now be accounted for as finance 
leases over the building and land.

Under Australian Accounting Standard AASB 108 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors’ this change must be accounted for retrospectively.  Accordingly, the Authority has recognised 
the finance leases from their inception in September 1993 in order to restate the Statement of Financial 
Position as at 1 July 2009 and 30 June 2010.  The Statements of Comprehensive Income, Changes in 
Equity, and Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2010 have also been amended to reflect the new finance 
lease arrangements.

The recognition of the finance leases over the building and land have resulted in the additional 
disclosures:

Lease payments are reported as finance costs, contingent rent (under accommodation expenses) and  »
the repayments of the finance lease liabilities

Depreciation expense on the building »

The leased assets are reported, at their revalued amounts, as Building under finance lease and Land  »
under finance lease

The finance lease liabilities over the building and land are split into current (due in the next 12 months)  »
and non-current liabilities

The adjustments within Equity relate to the initial recognition of the finance lease arrangements including  »
the revaluation of the building and land 
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Retrospective Adjustments

(a) Statement of Comprehensive Income (Extract) for the year ended 30 June 2010

note

30 June
2010
$000

Increase/
(Decrease)

$000

30 June
2010

restated
$000

Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense 17 10,228 1,242 11,470

Finance costs 18 0 3,112 3,112

Accommodation expenses 19 11,145  (5,019) 6,126

Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 35 94 1,242 1,336

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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(b) Statement of Financial Position (Extract) as at 30 June 2010

note

30 June
2010
$000

Increase/
(Decrease)

$000

30 June
2010

restated
$000

Non - current assets

Land 29 5,848 8,150 13,998

Building 29 0 42,550 42,550

Current liabilities

Payables 31 7,590  (588) 7,002

Finance lease 32 0 2,083 2,083

Non-current liabilities

Finance lease 32 0 33,795 33,795

Equity

Contributed equity 35 81,986  (7,044) 74,942

Reserves 35 66 19,262 19,328

Retained earnings 35 10,252  3,192 13,444

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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(c) Statement of Cash Flows (Extract) for the year ended 30 June 2010

note

30 June
2010
$000

Increase/
(Decrease)

$000

30 June
2010

restated
$000

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments

    Accommodation 10,904  (5,076)  5,828 

    Finance costs 0  3,160  3,160 

Cash flows from financing activities

  Payments

    Finance lease payments 0  1,916  1,916 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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(d)  Statement of Financial Position (Extract) as at 1 July 2009

note

1 July
2009
$000

Increase/
(Decrease)

$000

1 July
2009

restated
$000

Non - current assets

Land 4,403 8,150 12,553

Building 0 42,550 42,550

Current liabilities

Payables 5,381  (596) 4,785

Finance lease 0 1,915 1,915

Non-current liabilities

Finance lease 0 35,878 35,878

Equity

Contributed equity 80,635  (7,044) 73,591

Reserves 0 18,020 18,020

Retained earnings 6,233 2,527  8,760 
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7. Services of the Authority

Information about the Authority’s services and the expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable to 
those services are set out in Note 51 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.  

The three services of the Authority and their objectives as at 30 June 2011 were:

Service 1: Access to Land Information

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features is collected, recorded and 
made available for use by government, business and the community.

Service 2: Valuations 

An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

Service 3: Access to Government Geographic Information

Land or geographic information from Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) community 
members (WCM) is managed in a coordinated way so that data held by WCM can be integrated and readily 
accessed to meet government, business and community needs.
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

8. Provision of services
Land Titles Management Fees

Search 26,522 27,971 

Transfer 15,762 18,098 

Mortgage 10,699 11,115 

Discharge 10,409 10,419 

Other (Plan Lodgements, Caveats, Applications etc..) 10,344 9,508 

73,736 77,111 

Valuation Services Fees 18,783 12,548 

Electronic advice of sale fee 735 900 

93,254 90,559 

9. Sale of land information data and imagery
Land information licensing and consultancy services 2,529 3,196 

Sale of maps and aerial photography 1,392 1,031 

Geospatial data sales 944 768 

Native title spatial services 539 566 

Remote sensing satellite imagery 490 238 

Property value and sales information 378 466 

6,272 6,265 
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

10. International services
  AusAID 288 784 

  Study tours 36 12 

  Middle East 20 122 

  Cambodia 14 0 

  Malaysia 0 39 

358 957 

The revenue from AusAID was for the provision of consultancy services and training under the following 
projects:         

Advanced fire monitoring and burnt area mapping in Indonesia using SPOT 4 and INDOFIRE. 1. 

Firewatch Indonesia - Building fire monitoring infrastructure and strengthening the capacity of the 2. 
Indonesian government to monitor fires.        

Advanced fire monitoring and burnt area mapping training.      3. 

Strengthening Vietnam’s forest monitoring capability using satellite monitoring techniques.   4. 
           

The revenue attributed to Study tours was for:        

Delivery of study tour to the Department of Survey and Mapping Vietnam (DoSMVN).  1. 

Delivery of a study tour to the Vietnamese Department of Information Technology (CIREN).  2. 

Delivery of a study tour to the Bhutanese National Land Commission (NLC).  3. 
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10. International services - cont.   

The revenue attributed to the Middle East was for:       

Providing consultancy services to the Department of Municipal Affairs in Abu Dhabi to review and QA the 1. 
draft document for street, plot and property addressing standards and specifications. 

The revenue attributed to Cambodia was for:

Providing consultancy services to Cambodia land administration support project mid-term evaluation, 1. 
funded by the Canadian International Development Agency.      

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

11. Interest revenue

Interest on funds invested by the Department of Treasury and Finance 706 628 

706 628 

12. Other revenue
Grants 1,421 357 

Recovery of costs 251 553 

Sale of maps 100 74 

Government Vehicle Scheme 55 53 

WALIS - general 3 245 

Other services 51 60 

1,881 1,342 
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

13. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Furniture, office and computer equipment

Cost 1,372 320 

Accumulated depreciation (1,365) (301)

Carrying amount of non current assets 7 19 

less:  Proceeds 11 9 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal 4 (10)

14. Employee benefits expense
Salaries and wages (a) 56,025 56,279 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 6,710 6,046 

Annual leave (b) 5,965 5,523 

Long service leave (b) 2,313 2,707 

71,013 70,555 

(a) This includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component.     

(b) Includes a superannuation contribution component. 

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax are included at Note 16 
‘Other expenses’.

The employment on-costs liability is included at Note 33 ‘Provisions’. 
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

15. Supplies & services
Services and contracts - IT 15,630 14,759 

Services and contracts - others 8,800 8,370 

Agents commission 941 849 

Communications 621 598 

Travel 552 646 

Consultancy 371 533 

Consumables 287 351 

27,202 26,106 
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

16. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a) 3,830 3,725 

Grants & subsidies 631 186 

Other staffing costs 529 701 

Advertising 277 248 

Fringe benefit tax 237 232 

Insurance 224 278 

Minor purchases 183 374 

Board and committee fees 144 148 

Membership fees 106 93 

Books, magazines, acts and subscriptions 94 145 

Staff recruitment 94 133 

Bank charges 89 110 

Postage 89 106 

Printing costs 79 94 

Hire charges - furniture 66 156 

Cost of sales - maps 46 31 

Other expenses 698 1,046 

7,416 7,806 

(a)   Includes payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance.
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

17. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

  Furniture 7 7 

  Equipment 183 130 

  Computer equipment 1,304 1,665 

  Plant 22 0 

  Building 1,280 1,242 

2,796 3,044 

Amortisation

  Service delivery software and related project costs 7,263 7,052 

  Leasehold improvements 1,186 1,374 

8,449 8,426 

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 11,245 11,470 

The 2009/10 comparative amount for building has been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.
See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

18. Finance costs
Finance lease charges

  Land 123 130 

  Building 2,819 2,982 

2,942 3,112 

The 2009/10 comparative amounts have been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.
See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for lease rentals and contingent rent for land and building have been 
restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41. See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.

19. Accommodation expenses
Contingent rent - land and building 2,828 2,548 

Repairs and maintenance 1,269 1,214 

Utilities and statutory charges 1,033 943 

Lease rentals 514 539 

Minor works and alterations 259 285 

Other accommodation expenses 630 597 

6,533 6,126 
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

20. Service appropriations
Appropriation revenue received during the reporting period 34,476 31,366 

Service appropriations are accrual amounts, reflecting the full cost of services delivered.  The appropriation 
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises 
an allocation based on the depreciation expense for the reporting period.  

21. Resources received free of charge

Resources received free of charge have been determined on the basis of the following estimates 
provided by agencies:

   Department of Treasury and Finance 393 374 

   Department of the Attorney General 339 170 

732 544 

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration, the Authority 
recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can 
be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be 
recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

22. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 31 50 

Operating bank account 10,484 13,346 

10,515 13,396 

23. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current

VAR security deposit  (a) 12 12 

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense  (b) 1,446 1,176 

(a) Security deposit received from Value Added Resellers. 
(b) Amount held in the suspense account is only used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial  
   year that occurs every 11 years.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

24. Receivables
Current

Trade debtors 22,997 10,547 

Accrued revenue 1,812 670 

Goods and services tax 201 762 

25,010 11,979 

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables  * (24) (22)

24,986 11,957 

Non-current

Accrued revenue 1,215 5,637 

1,215 5,637 

* - Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables:

Balance at the start of year 22 40 

Doubtful debts expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 2 78 

Amounts written off during the year 0 (79)

Amounts written back during the year 0 (17)

Balance at end of year 24 22 

See also Note 2(p) 'Receivables' and Note 41 'Financial instruments'.
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25. Other financial assets
Non Current

At cost :

Investments 1,667 0

1,667 0 

The Authority has an investment of 1,666,667 shares in National E-Conveyancing Development Limited i. 
(NECDL), an unlisted public company limited by shares and registered under the Corporations Act 
2001. NECDL has four members being the States of New South Wales, Victoria, Queensland and 
Landgate. Each shareholder holds 1,666,667 shares. The issue price per share paid by Landgate 
was $1. NECDL has seven directors comprising a director appointed by each of New South 
Wales, Victoria and Queensland, an independent chairman and a director appointed by each of the 
Australian Bankers Association, Law Council of Australia and the Australian Institute of Conveyancers. 
 
The object of the company is to create and operate a system to provide an efficient, competitive 
system to settle real property transactions, lodge instruments with Land Registries and pay associated 
duty and tax obligations electronically, without increasing the cost of such services to the community 
or excluding any current market participant from operating in the new electronic environment. 
 
This investment has been measured at cost as there is no ready market for this investment and fair 
value cannot be reliably measured. 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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25. Other financial assets - cont.
The Authority also has an investment of one share in Public Sector Mapping Agency (PSMA) Australia  ii. 
Limited,  an unlisted public company limited by shares and registered under the Corporations Act.   
PSMA has 9 shareholders being the  Commonwealth of Australia and each Australian State and  
Territory Government.  Each share holder holds one fully paid $1 share.  PSMA has 11 Directors  
comprising one representative of each shareholder, an independent chairperson and a 
marketing director.  PSMA’s primary purpose is the building of national data sets to which 
all shareholders contribute data at no cost and its activities are funded from the revenues it  
receives from data licensing and data supply contracts with third parties.  Part of this revenue 
is distributed back to the shareholders at a rate determined by the Directors of PSMA.   
 
The Authority represents the WA Government on the Board of PSMA.  The Authority holds one fully paid 
$1 share but does not have control or significance influence on the policy and operations of PSMA. The 
investment is recognised at the cost of $1.  

 
The distribution received by the Authority in 2010/11 for the 2009/10 financial year was $167,652 
(2009/10 - $204,651).  This revenue is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income under ‘Sale 
of land information data and imagery’.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

26. Amounts receivable for services
Current 4,450 183 

Non-current 26,663 27,703 

31,113 27,886 

This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that 
it can only be used for asset replacement. See Note 20 ‘Service appropriations’.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

27. Prepayments
Information Technology Services 791 916 

Other 111 78 

902 994 

28. Accrued interest
Interest on cash balances invested by the Department of Treasury and Finance 143 188 



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 117

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends

L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

disclosures and legal compliance

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

29. (a) Furniture and equipment
Furniture

At cost 137 149 

Accumulated depreciation (76) (78)

61 71 

Equipment

At cost 2,508 2,416 

Accumulated depreciation (1,476) (1,521)

1,032 895 

Computer equipment

At cost 11,317 11,855 

Accumulated depreciation (9,131) (8,956)

2,186 2,899 

(b) Plant
At cost 175 0 

Accumulated depreciation (22) 0 

Written down value 153 0 

Work in progress at cost 898 729 

Total Plant 1,051 729 

Total plant, furniture and equipment 4,330 4,594 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

29. (c) Leasehold improvements
At cost 12,302 7,956 

Accumulated amortisation (4,791) (3,605)

Written down value 7,511 4,351 

Works in progress at cost 1,061 4,464 

Total leasehold improvements 8,572 8,815 

(d) Intangibles
Service delivery software and related project costs

At cost 78,628 73,062 

Accumulated depreciation (60,572) (53,308)

Written down value 18,056 19,754 

Work in progress at cost 6,971 15,035 

Total intangibles 25,027 34,789 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

29. (e) Building under finance lease
At fair value  (i) 43,500 42,550 

Accumulated depreciation 0 0 

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0 

Total building under finance lease 43,500 42,550 

During 2010/11 the Authority reclassified the lease on the building and associated land from operating i. 
lease to finance lease.  As a consequence the 2009-10 comparative amount has been restated in 
accordance with AASB 101 para 41.  See Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.    
 
The building and associated land was valued by the Authority’s Valuation Services Branch for the years 
2008/09, 2009/10 and 2010/11 with the valuations being brought to account at 30 June each year.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

29. (f) Land
Land reserves

At fair value  (i) 3,518 5,848 

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0 

Total land reserves 3,518 5,848 

Land under finance lease

At fair value (ii) 8,500 8,150 

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0 

Total land under finance lease 8,500 8,150 

Total land 12,018 13,998 

This represents Reserves for which the Authority became responsible since 1 July 2008. Prior to 1 i. 
July 2008 these Reserves were administered by the Department for Regional Development and 
Lands on behalf of the Crown.         
 
The land was revalued by the Authority’s Valuation Services Branch as at 1 July 2010.  The valuations 
were performed during the year ended 30 June 2011 and recognised at 30 June 2011. The fair value of 
land has been determined by reference to recent market transactions.     
  
The fair value of the land has been determined by reference to recent market transactions and ii. 
confirmed by independent peer review.         
See Note 29 (e) (i) ‘Building under finance lease’.        

Total furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, intangibles, land and building 93,447 104,746 
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2011
Furniture 

($’000)
Equipment 

($’000)

Computer 
Equipment 

($’000)
Plant 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Plant 
($’000)

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Service 
Delivery, 
Software 

and 
Project 

Costs 
($’000)

Works in  
Progress 

Service 
Delivery 

($’000)
Land 

($’000)
Building 

($’000)
TOTAL 
($’000)

Carrying amount  
at 1 July 2010 71 895 2,899 0 729 4,351 4,464 19,754 15,035 13,998 42,550 104,746 

Additions 0 318 598 175 344 4,346 765 5,565 9,710 8 0 21,829 

Transfers 0 0 0 0 (175) 0 (4,168) 0 (7,300) (448) 0 (12,091)

Disposals 0 (3) (5) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (8)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,749) 2,230 481 

Depreciation/ 
amortisation (7) (183) (1,304) (22) 0 (1,186) 0 (7,263) 0 0 (1,280) (11,245)

Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (10,474) 0 0 (10,474)

Adjustments (3) 5 (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 209 0 209

Carrying amount 
at 30 June 2011 61 1,032 2,186 153 898 7,511 1,061 18,056 6,971 12,018 43,500 93,447

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

29. cont.
(g) Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, intangibles, land and 
building at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.
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2010
Furniture 

($’000)
Equipment 

($’000)

Computer 
Equipment 

($’000)
Plant 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Plant 
($’000)

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

($’000)

Service 
Delivery, 
Software 

and 
Project 

Costs 
($’000)

Works in  
Progress 

Service 
Delivery 

($’000)
Land 

($’000)
Building 

($’000)
TOTAL 
($’000)

Carrying amount  
at 1 July 2009 76 981 3,251 0 484 762 7,776 16,210 18,079 12,553 42,550 102,722 

Additions 5 80 1,319 0 245 4,937 1,692 10,596 8,027 1,351 0 28,252

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,937) 0 (10,596) 0 0 (15,533)

Disposals 0 (13) (6) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (19)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 94 1,242 1,336

Depreciation/ 
amortisation (7) (130) (1,665) 0 0 (1,374) 0 (7,052) 0 0 (1,242) (11,470)

Adjustments (3) (23) 0 0 0 26 (67) 0 (475) 0 0 (542)

Carrying amount 
at 30 June 2010 71 895 2,899 0 729 4,351 4,464 19,754 15,035 13,998 42,550 104,746

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

The 2009/10 comparative amount for leased land and building has been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.
See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.

29. cont.
(g) Reconciliations - cont.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

30. Impairment of assets

In accordance with the AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets’, Landgate has reviewed its non-
current assets including work in progress and determined that a certain program of work could 
be impaired as at 30 June 2011.  The program known as iLand which commenced when the 
property market was booming, aimed to automate the land registration process and prepare for 
the introduction of the National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS).   
  
In the last two years the State’s property market has seen a significant downturn and 
subsequently Landgate’s property-related transactions have experienced the worst levels for 
almost 20 years.  At these levels of activity the financial benefits of this program which were 
largely transaction-based should be discounted. When coupled with a significant increase in 
IT development and maintenance costs and delays to the NECS initiative, the iLand program 
in its present form was suspended in March 2011 and the underlying approach reviewed in the 
context of the current market.         

The program did deliver a number of benefits including improvements to the document 
lodgement process. These benefits do not qualify to be classed as intangible assets and now 
$10.474m needs to be impaired.        
      
The original intentions of the program are still valid and Landgate is developing a more 
sustainable strategy that will look to fulfil the envisaged benefits including completion of 
operational efficiencies through business process automation and redesign of current manual 
processes that position Landgate to implement an integrated ‘end to end’ service that meets 
our customer’s requirements as well as position the organisation for NECS. 
        
There were no other indications of impairment of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold 
improvements,intangible, land and building assets at 30 June 2011.     
    

10,474 0
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($’000)

2010
($’000)

31. Payables
Accrued expenses 3,386 2,950 

Accrued salaries and wages 1,328 1,058 

Trade payables 805 2,947 

Other 48 47 

5,567 7,002 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

The 2009/10 comparative amount for accrued expenses has been restated in accordance with 
AASB 101 para 41. See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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2010
($’000)

32. Finance lease
Current

Finance lease liabilities

    Land 94 87 

    Building 2,168 1,996 

Total current 2,262 2,083 

Non-Current

Finance lease liabilities 

    Land 1,314 1,408 

    Building 30,219 32,387 

Total non-current 31,533 33,795 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

The land associated with the building is owned by the State Government of Western Australia and leased to 
a private sector entity until 14 March 2021. The private sector entity owns the building and has leased it to 
the Authority until 14 March 2021 after which ownership passes to the Government.  In the event of default, 
the estimated value of the remaining lease payment becomes due and payable to the private sector entity.  
          
The 2009/10 comparative amounts have been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.
See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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2010
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33. Provisions

Current

Employee benefits provision (a)

Current

  Annual leave (b) 3,335 3,449 

  Long service leave (c) 8,767 8,343 

12,102 11,792 

Employment on-costs provision (e)

Current 621 654 

Total current provisions 12,723 12,446 

Non-current

Employee benefits provision (a)

Non-current

  Deferred Leave (d) 56 37 

  Long service leave (c) 4,373 4,269 

4,429 4,306 

Employment on-costs provision (e)

Non-current 250 244 

Total non-current provisions 4,679 4,550 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

33. Provisions - cont.

(a)   Employee benefits as at 30 June 2011 includes $1.39m in respect of employer superannuation 
contributions. (30 June 2010 $1.26m)

(b)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right 
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 2,438 2,603 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 897 846 

3,335 3,449 

(c) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 2,995 4,186 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 10,145 8,426 

13,140 12,612 
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

33. Provisions - cont.

(d)  Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no    
 unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  
 Actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 0 0 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 56 37 

56 37 

(e) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers compensation insurance.  The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included at Note 16 
‘Other expenses’.

Employment on-cost provision

  Carrying amount at start of the reporting period 898 899 

     Additional provisions recognised 422 600 

     Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (449) (601)

  Carrying amount at the end of the reporting period 871 898 
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34. Other current liabilities
Unearned revenue 4,216 2,501 

Electronic advice of sale administration 872 813 

Revenue received in advance 284 314 

Other liabilities 395 378 

5,767 4,006 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

35. Equity

The Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on behalf of the community.  Equity 
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Authority.

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 74,942 73,591 

Other contributions by owners (a) 8 1,351 

Distribution to owners (b) (448) 0 

Balance at end of period 74,502 74,942 

(a) This represents Land reserves transferred from Department of Regional Development and 
Lands to the Authority. 

(b) This represents Land reserves transferred out to other agencies now responsible for these 
reserves. 

See also Note 29(f) ‘Land’.
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35. Equity - cont.
Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at start of period 19,328 18,020 

Net revaluation increment/(decrements)

    Land reserves (1,862) 94 

    Land under finance lease 350 0 

    Building 2,230 1,242 

    Deferred Tax (see Note 36 'Taxation equivalent') 0 (28)

Balance at end of period 20,046 19,328 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of non-current assets as described in accounting policy Note 2(h).

Retained Earnings

Balance at start of period 13,444 8,760 

Result for the period 148 4,684 

Balance at end of period 13,592 13,444 

Total Equity 108,140 107,714 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for asset revaluation surplus and retained earnings have 
been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.

See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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36. Taxation equivalent

The Western Australian Land Information Authority was included in the National Tax Equivalents 
Regime (NTER) for the first time on 1 January 2007.  The NTER requires the payment of income 
tax assuming the Authority is a non-government business.  

Major components of income tax expense as at 30 June 2011 are:

(a) Income tax expense

Current income tax 

Current income tax charge 673 188 

Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax (73) 0 

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 110 1,604 

Total Income tax expense 710 1,792 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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36. Taxation equivalent - cont.
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) applicable to accounting profit before income 
tax equivalents at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense at the Authority’s 
effective income tax rate for the period ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010 are as follows:

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalents 858 6,476 

Tax at the statutory income tax rate of 30% 257 1,942 

Adjustment in respect of prior year income tax due to the restating of prior year profit (a) 0 (200)

257 1,742 

Non-deductible expenses (b) 561 6 

Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax (73) 0 

Adjustments in respect of previous deferred income tax (35) 52 

Temporary investment allowance 0 (8)

Income tax expense/(benefit) 710 1,792 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

(a)  The income tax expense for the year ended 30 June 2010 outlined above does not take into consideration the possible 
tax implications of the change in the accounting treatment of the new lease arrangements associated with the Midland 
building and associated land. See Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’ and Note 42 ‘Contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets’ for additional information. 
 
(b) The income tax expense for 2010/11 has been adjusted to reflect the impact of the new finance lease arrangements on 
the Midland Building and associated land.  Landgate has not claimed a deduction for the contingent rent, finance costs or 
building depreciation.  A deduction has been claimed for a market rent based on the area that Landgate occupies in the 
Midland building. See Note 42 ‘Contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ for additional information. 
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36. Taxation equivalent - cont.

(c) Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

       Assets         Liabilities        Net

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Receivables (7) (6) 43 57 36 51 

Property plant & equipment (31,946) (571) 31,426 50 (520) (521)

Land 0 0 0 28 0 28 

Payables (36) (30) 0 0 (36) (30)

Provisions (5,471) (5,099) 500 0 (4,971) (5,099)

Capital raising costs 0 (2) 0 0 0 (2)

Tax (assets) liabilities (37,460) (5,708) 31,969 135 (5,491) (5,573)

Set off of tax 31,969 135 (31,969) (135) 0 0 

Net tax (assets) liabilities (5,491) (5,573) 0 0 (5,491) (5,573)
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36. Taxation equivalent - cont.

(c) Deferred income tax - cont. 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

Movement in Temporary  
Differences during the Year 

Balance
1 July 2010

$000

Recognised 
in Income

$000

Recognised
in Equity

$000

Balance 
30 June 2011

$000

Receivables 51 (15) 0 36 

Property plant & equipment (521) 1 0 (520)

Land 28 0 (28) 0 

Payables (30) (6) 0 (36)

Provisions (5,099) 128 0 (4,971)

Capital raising costs (2) 2 0 0 

Tax (assets) liabilities (5,573) 110 (28) (5,491)

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets.
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

37. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled 
to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  (see Note 22) 10,515 13,396 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  (see Note 23) 1,458 1,188 

11,973 14,584 

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents to net cash flows provided  
      by/(used in) operating activities

Profit/(Loss) after income tax equivalents  148  4,684 

Non-cash items:

Depreciation expense  11,245  11,470 

Impairment loss  10,474 0 

Expensed capital relating to prior years  1,358 0 

Resources received free of charge  732  544 

Doubtful debts expense  2 0 

Write-back doubtful debts expense 0  (18)

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets  (4)  10 

Income tax equivalent benefit 710 1,792 

Grants and subsidies from State Government  (35,208)  (31,910)

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

37. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement - cont.

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents to net cash flows provided  
      by/(used in) operating activities - cont.

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Inventories  8  113 

Receivables  (9,356)  (3,146)

Prepayments  91  (112)

Accrued interest  45  (79)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable  (985)  1,766 

Provisions  406  (376)

Other liabilities  1,705  338 

Change in GST in receivables/payables  532  82 

Net cash used in operating activities  (18,097)  (14,842)

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for depreciation and payables have been restated in accordance with 
AASB 101 para 41.

See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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($’000)

2010
($’000)

38. Resources provided free of charge

During the reporting period the following resources in excess of $10,000 were provided to 
other agencies free of charge:

Department of Treasury and Finance 10,802  10,227 

Department of Regional Development & Lands 4,068  3,562 

Department of Environment and Conservation 1,444  567 

Department of Agriculture & Food 756  444 

Department of Mines & Petroleum 524  535 

Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia 489  997 

Department of Water 485  779 

Western Australia Police Service 469  156 

Department of Planning 438  964 

Department of Health 427  459 

Department of Indigenous Affairs 423  362 

Public Transport Authority 361  1,184 

Port Headland Port Authority 343  5 

LandCorp 310  309 

Corruption and Crime Commission 307  7 

Department of Education 249  106 

Department of the Attorney General 212  159 

East Perth Redevelopment Authority 180  257 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 138

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends

L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

disclosures and legal compliance

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

38. Resources provided free of charge - cont
Western Australian Electoral Commission 123  13 

Main Roads Western Australia 73  2,232 

The University of Western Australia 50  107 

Department of Local Government. 34 0 

Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions 27  27 

Department of Education Services 25  60 

Department of Transport 23  19 

Department for Child Protection 21  51 

Local Government Grants Commission 21 0 

Office of Native Title 19  283 

Department of Housing 18  17 

Parliament of Western Australia 17 4 

Swan River Trust 17  2 

Dampier Port Authority 16  5 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet 16 0 

Rural Business Development Corporation 15 1 

Department of Commerce 13  23 

Department of Training and Workforce Development 10  21 

Department of Fisheries 3  776 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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38. Resources provided free of charge - cont
Disability Service Commission 0  315 

Department of Sport & Recreation 0  110 

Department of Education and Training 0  26 

22,828  25,171 

Resources provided to other agencies which were less than $10,000 per agency: 33  34 

Resources provided free of charge to organisations other than departments and statutory 
authorities: 4,455  3,453 

Total resources provided free of charge 27,316  28,658 

The above figures are costed on the basis of full cost recovery.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

39. Commitments for expenditure

(a) Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year  11,110  10,810 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 29,931 29,932 

Later than 5 years 0 0 

41,041 40,742 
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

39. Commitments for expenditure - cont.

(b) Operating lease expenditure

These commitments are in respect of cancellable and non cancellable operating leases 
contracted for at the end of the reporting period date but not recognised as liabilities. These 
leases include office accommodation, office equipment and motor vehicles.

Within 1 year  2,055  2,638 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  2,033  1,742 

Later than 5 years  411  149 

4,499 4,529 

Representing:

Cancellable operating leases 513 568 

Non-cancellable operating leases 3,986 3,961 

4,499 4,529 

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for have been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.
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Included in the financial statements as:

Current (Note 32 'Finance Lease') 2,262 2,083 

Non-current (Note 32 'Finance Lease') 31,533 33,795 

33,795 35,878 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

39. Commitments for expenditure - cont.

(c) Finance lease commitments

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

Within 1 year  5,076  5,076 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  20,305  20,305 

Later than 5 years  25,381  30,458 

Minimum finance lease payments  50,762  55,839 

Less future finance charges  (16,967)  (19,961)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 33,795 35,878 

The present value of finance lease payable is as follows

Within 1 year  2,262  2,083 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  18,088  18,267 

Later than 5 years  13,445  15,528 

Present value of finance lease liabilities  33,795  35,878 
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

39. Commitments for expenditure - cont.

(c) Finance lease commitments - cont.

Under the terms of the finance leases, the State Government will gain ownership of the building and resume 
control of the associated land when the lease expires in March 2021. The lease contains an escalation 
clause under which the minimum lease payments are increased by the movement in the Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) every six months.  Any excess of lease payments above the minimum lease payments set at the 
lease inception in September 1993 is deemed contingent rent and is expensed each year.

In September 2013 the lease payments (minimum lease payments plus contingent rent) will be reset to an 
equivalent market rent.  Any excess of the lease payments above the minimum lease payments set at the 
lease inception will continue to be accounted for as contingent rent. The new lease payments will then 
escalate by the movement in the CPI every 6 months until the lease expires.     

In the event of payment default, the remaining lease payments become due and payable.

The finance lease does not impose restrictions on other financing transactions.

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for have been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

39. Commitments for expenditure - cont.

(d) Other expenditure commitments

These expenditure commitments relate to general administration expenses including IT services, 
software licensing and maintenance, photographic services and building maintenance, and are 
payable as follows:

Within 1 year 29,129  22,079 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 66,221  68,776 

Later than 5 years 8,715  15,033 

104,065 105,888 

These commitments are all inclusive of GST.
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40. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

(a) Remuneration of members of the accountable authority 

The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, 
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands 
are:

$ $ 2011 2010

10,001 -  20,000 1 2

20,001 -  30,000 3 2

30,001 -  40,000 1 2

40,001 -  50,000 1 0

240,001 -  250,000 0 1*

250,001 -  260,000 1* 0

7 7

* - Includes the Chief Executive (including acting Chief Executive) who is a senior officer and a  
    member of the accountable authority.

The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority is: 407 391 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in 
respect of members of the accountable authority.

No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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40. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers - cont.

(b) Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable 
authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits 
for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$ $ 2011 2010

0 -  10,000 0 1

40,001 -  50,000 0 2

60,001 -  70,000 1 1

80,001 -  90,000 2 0

140,001 -  150,000 0 1

150,001 -  160,000 1 2

160,001 -  170,000 1 1

170,001 -  180,000 1 0

190,001 -  200,000 0 1

6 9

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 737 965 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in 
respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable 
authority.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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41. Financial instruments 

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables, investment, amounts receivable for services, payables, finance lease liabilities 
and other current liabilities. The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. The Authority measures credit risk on a fair value basis 
and monitors risk on a regular basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as 
shown in the table at Note 41(c).

The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers 
with an appropriate credit history.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Authority’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of 
credit risk.

The accounts of the customers overdue are regularly reviewed and the credit limit may be suspended until 
the account is brought up to date. Where it is economic to do so, the Authority refers large unpaid debts to 
the State Solicitor’s Office for legal action.

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable 
data indicating changes in client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, see 
Note 41(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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41. Financial instruments - cont.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will 
affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Authority’s trading 
in foreign currency is minimal. The Authority is exposed to interest rate risk primarily on cash and cash 
equivalents. There are no borrowings or Treasurer’s advance other than finance leases (fixed interest).

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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41. Financial instruments - cont.

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets 
and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10,515 13,396 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,458 1,188 

Amounts receivables for services 31,113 27,886 

Receivables   (i) 26,000 16,832 

Investment 1,667 0 

70,753 59,302 

Financial Liabilities

Payables 5,567 7,002 

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land 1,408 1,495 

   Building 32,387 34,383 

Other current liabilities 5,767 4,006 

45,129 46,886 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST receivable from the ATO.

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for finance lease liabilities have been restated in accordance 
with AASB 101 para 41. See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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41. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk and interest rate risk exposures
The following table details the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures and the 
ageing analysis of financial assets. 

The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount 
of the financial assets as shown below.

The table discloses the ageing analysis of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired 
financial assets.

The table is based on the information provided to senior management of the Authority.

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial 
assets it holds.

The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have 
otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

                                                      Interest rate exposure and ageing analysis of financial assets (a)

Interest rate exposure Past due but not impaired

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying
Amount

($’000)

Fixed
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Variable
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Non
Interest 
Bearing

($’000)

Up to 3 
months
($’000)

3-12
months
($’000)

1-2 
years

($’000)

2-5 
years

($’000)

More
than 5
 years
($’000)

Impaired 
financial 

assets
($’000)

Financial assets

2011

Cash and cash equivalents 5.030 10,515 10,484 31

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 5.030 1,458 1,458

Receivables (a) 26,000 26,000 424 10

Investments 1,667 1,667

Amounts receivable for services 31,113 31,113

70,753 0 11,942 58,811 424 10 0 0 0 0

2010

Cash and cash equivalents 3.995 13,396 13,346 50

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 3.995 1,188 1,188

Receivables (a) 16,832 16,832 41 13 

Amounts receivable for services 27,886 27,886

59,302 0 14,534 44,768 41 13 0 0 0 0 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST receivable from the ATO .

41. Financial instruments - cont.
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Liquidity risk
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual maturity 
amounts are representative of the undiscounted amounts at the end of the reporting period. The table 
includes both interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has been made where material.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

                                     Interest rate exposure and ageing analysis of financial liabilities (a)

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying
Amount

($’000)

Fixed
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Variable
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Non
Interest 
Bearing

($’000)

Up to 3 
months
($’000)

3-12
months
($’000)

1-2 
years

($’000)

2-5 
years

($’000)

More
than 5
 years
($’000)

Financial liabilities

2011

Payables 5,567 5,567

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land 8.46 1,408 1,408 94 102 364 848

   Building 8.46 32,387 32,387 2,168 2,356 8,361 19,502

Other liabilities 5,767 5,767

45,129 33,795 11,334 2,262 2,458 8,725 20,350

(a) The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
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41. Financial instruments - cont.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

                                     Interest rate exposure and ageing analysis of financial liabilities (a)

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying
Amount

($’000)

Fixed
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Variable
Interest

Rate
($’000)

Non
Interest 
Bearing

($’000)

Up to 3 
months
($’000)

3-12
months
($’000)

1-2 
years

($’000)

2-5 
years

($’000)

More
than 5
 years
($’000)

Financial liabilities

2010

Payables 7,002 7,002

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land 8.46 1,495 1,495 87 94 335 979

   Building 8.46 34,383 34,383 1,996 2,168 7,696 22,523

Other liabilities 4,006 4,006

46,886 35,878 11,008 2,083 2,262 8,031 23,502

(a) The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for payables and finance lease liabilities have been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 41.
See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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-100 basis points +100 basis points

 Carrying amount 
$000

 Profit 
$000

 Equity 
$000

 Profit 
$000

 Equity 
$000

2011

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  10,484  (105)  (105)  105  105 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  1,458  (15)  (15)  15  15 

Total Increase / (Decrease)  (120)  (120)  120  120 

2010

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  13,346  (133)  (133)  133  133 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  1,188  (12)  (12)  12  12 

 (145)  (145)  145  145 

41. Financial instruments - cont.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets 
and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 100 basis point 
in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting 
period.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at 
cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless 
otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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42. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities 
In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the financial statements, the Authority has the following contingent 
liabilities: 

The Authority has pending or potential litigation that may affect the financial position to the value of i. 
$2,781,640.

There is potential for Copyright Agency Limited and/or individual surveyors to claim against the State ii. 
of Western Australia and/or the Authority in respect of:

copying surveyors’ plans for public use; anda. 

the Authority’s use of plans to create products and services following the decision of the Federal b. 
Court of Australia in Copyright Agency Limited v State of New South Wales [2007] FCAFC 80 (5 
June 2007) and the decision of the High Court of Australia in Copyright Agency Limited v State of 
New South Wales [2008] HCA 35 (6 August 2008). Litigation has currently ceased and Copyright 
Agency Limited is negotiating with the States the rate of payment to be made for publication of 
surveyors’ plans. This may include an amount for retrospectivity which is unquantified.

On 8 July 2009 RP Data Limited ACN 087 759 171 (RP Data) lodged proceedings in the Federal Court iii. 
claiming that the Authority has breached section 46 of the Trade Practices Act 1974 and breached its 
statutory duty under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 in the pricing structure the Authority is 
charging RP Data under an agreement for the supply of certain land information data.  RP Data seeks 
several forms of relief including damages for breach of statutory duty of an unspecified amount.

 
 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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42. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets - cont.

Contingent liabilities - cont. 
The Authority is currently reviewing and considering the tax equivalent treatment of the new finance iv. 
lease arrangements of the Midland building and associated land from where it operates (see Note 6 
‘Changes in prior period comparatives’ for additional information).  This review will likely lead to a change 
in the tax equivalent treatment of affected assets including the associated allowable deductions and 
will impact the income tax equivalent amount which the Authority is or was liable to pay from 1 January 
2007 to 30 June 2011.  For the period 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2010 the accumulated potential 
additional tax payable will be in the range of $0.472m to $1.642m.  For the current reporting period the 
Authority has adopted a conservative approach and has included an additional tax equivalent payable 
of $0.552m resulting in a current tax liability at 30 June 2011 of $0.289m.  

 
The Authority, in consultation with their tax consultants, are preparing a submission to the Australian 
Taxation Office requesting a private tax ruling on the tax treatment of the new finance lease arrangements.  
Pending the outcome of this ruling, the Authority may be due a refund in relation to tax previously paid 
in the 2010-11 financial year.

Contingent assets 
The Authority has no contingent assets other than those reported in the financial statements. 

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.
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43. Intellectual property 

The Authority’s intellectual property consists of software; data; records created and processes developed 
by the Authority as a result of its activity and transactions; publications; products; trademarks and know-
how; in the categories listed below.  

At the end of the reporting period the intellectual property cannot be reliably measured, and accordingly 
has not been recognised as an asset in the financial statements. Moreover, AASB 138 ‘Intangible Assets’ 
does not allow internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in 
substance to be recognised as assets in the financial statements:

Air Photography1. 

A collection of single images and mosaics of Western Australia.  The collection dates from 1948 to 
the current time and has significant historical importance. 

Spatial Cadastral Database2. 

Information about land parcel boundaries including freehold and crown lots. Also includes lodged 
cadastral boundaries, control marks, easements, surveyed mining tenement and administrative 
boundaries.

Geodetic Survey Marks Database3. 

Information that maintains a viable reference framework infrastructure for all survey, mapping and 
associated land information purposes in Western Australia.

GEONOMA Database4. 

Place, feature and road name information for Western Australia, including position, origin, meaning 
and classification of names.

Various Registered Trademarks, Internet domain names and Business names.5. 
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43. Intellectual property - cont.

Copyright, design, artwork and “know how” related to mapping products (digital and analogue), 6. 
publications (including internet design).

Copyright on the software code for application and web services and the associated documents 7. 
and process maps used for their specification and description.

Tenure 8. 

*  Tenure Systems - systems containing descriptions of how land is held, e.g. freehold or reserve. 
*  Title and Document Images and hardcopy - digital and historical hard copies of titles, surveys  
    and documents that are held in a central location.

Topographic Database/Geodatabase9. 

Repository of all geographic land information stored in terms of relief, cultural, transport, road 
centreline, hydrography, coastlines and points of interest.

Satellite Imagery 10. 

Digital datasets of satellite acquired images maintained in a catalogue archive.

Native Title Database 11. 

Spatial data depicting external boundaries of Native Title Applications and Indigenous Land Use 
Agreements (ILUAs). Native Title Applications are separated into three datasets -

* Applications filed in the Federal Court.

* Applications registered with National Native Title Tribunal (NNTT).

* Determined Applications.

* Registered Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs).
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43. Intellectual property - cont.

Thematic Databases12. 

Data fundamentally used in the preparation of thematic mapping products, e.g. StreetSmart Touring 
Maps, City and Town Series, Street Express, Street Directory, Emergency Service Directories and 
WA Travellers Atlas..

Land and Property Improvements Database 13. 

A repository that contains a description of the physical characteristics of land and improvements 
to land.

Land Valuations Database14. 

A database of current and previous values determined by the Valuer General.

Property Sales and Rentals Database15. 

A repository of historical sales and rental information integrated with land and property 
descriptions.

Computer Assisted Valuation Methodology16. 

A suite of integrated software that assists with the mass appraisal of values.

Work Management System Database17. 

A suite of software that provides the recording and allocation of human resources across 
services.

Property/Valuation GIS18. 

Integrated spatial and textual data displayed via a customised suite of software.
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43. Intellectual property - cont.

Customer Information19. 

A collection of lists and databases that make up the Authority’s information, location data, 
commercial activity and interactions.

TRIM Database20. 

A register of hard copy records. 

Property Street Address Database21. 

A database of current property street address details and geocodes of all property in Western 
Australia.

Soil Grade Classification Sketches22. 

Analogue Soil Classification Sketches for agricultural land throughout Western Australia used for 
rating valuations.

Algorithms and Techniques23. 

Various customised and novel Algorithms and Techniques to generate, depict and manipulate land 
and auxiliary information, digital geographic information, valuation and property information. 

The Innovation Forum database of ideas24. 

Collection of concepts, ideas and evidence around opportunities or issues related to the location 
information domain, and associated markets.
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

44. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

There have been no significant events occurring after 30 June 2011 that affect these financial 
statements.

45. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the reporting period is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 130 150

46. Affiliated body

The Land Surveyors’ Licensing Board is an affiliated body in that it received administrative 
support and a grant of $10,000 from the Authority. The Board is not subject to the operational 
control of the Authority and reports to Parliament separately. 10 10 
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

47. Supplementary financial information

(a) Write offs

(i)   Bad Debts 

      - Approved by Accountable Authority 0 79

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public monies and public and other property through theft or default 2 3

Amount recovered (2) (1)

0 2

(c) Gifts of public property

Gifts of public property provided by the Authority 1 3
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

48. Special purpose accounts
Special Purpose Account section 16(1)(c) of Financial Management Act

Payroll Deductions

The purpose of the special purpose account is to hold income tax instalments deducted from 
salaries and wages of employees of Landgate Payroll.

Balance at the start of the year 0 0

Receipts 14,282 15,491

Payments

   The Australian Taxation Office (14,282) (15,491)

Balance at the end of the year 0 0

This special purpose account is reported on a cash basis.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
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49. Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement

The provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories (IOT) is recouped from the 
Commonwealth government.  

Balance at the start of the year (8) 10

Receipts 94 26

Payments (71) (44)

Balance at the end of the year 15  (8)

As at 30 June 2010 $7,810 was due to be received from the Department of Regional Australia, Regional 
Development and Local Government (Commonwealth Government) for services provided.
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50. Explanatory statement 

This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual 
results for 2011 and between the actual results for 2010 and 2011. Significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 10% or $1m.

(i)  Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011

2011
Estimate 

($’000)

2011
Actual

 ($’000)
Variance

 ($’000)

Income

Provision of services 91,410 93,254 1,844 

Sale of land information data and imagery 7,268 6,272 (996)

International services 320 358 38 

Interest Revenue 595 706 111 

Expenses

Employee benefit expenses 69,411 71,013 1,602 

Other expenses 9,096 7,416 (1,680)

Finance costs 0 2,942 2,942 

Accommodation 12,009 6,533 (5,476)

Impairment loss 0 10,474 10,474 

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Resources received free of charge 429 732 303 
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50. Explanatory statement - cont.

Explanation of variations:

Provision of services
Provision of services revenue was higher than estimate mainly due to additional revenue from land titles and 
additional valuation work.

Sale of land information data and imagery
Revenue from the sale of digital data was less than estimate due to the depressed property market on which 
these revenues are dependent.

International services
International services revenue was higher than estimate mainly due to additional revenue from the Study 
tours, the extension of Firewatch Indonesia into 2010-11 that had planned to be completed in 2009-10 and 
the Cambodian project that was not included in the estimates.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue was greater than estimate mainly due to interest rates being higher than anticipated.  

Employee benefit expenses
Employee benefit expenses was higher than estimate due to the Public Service and Government Officers 
General Agreement 2011 salary increase and the specified callings pay increase and back-pay for valuers 
being accrued at year end, the unanticipated return of staff from capital funded projects and with the impact 
of the Authority’s leave target not being met.

Other expenses
Other expenses was less than estimate mainly due to a lower level of capital related expenditure charged 
direct to recurrent operations and a general under spend across the other expense accounts.
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50. Explanatory statement - cont.

Finance Costs
Finance costs were higher than estimate due to the change in the method of accounting of the lease 
arrangements of the Midland building and associated land from an operating lease to a finance lease during 
2010-11 with the Authority now being required to recognise a finance cost. See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior 
period comparatives’ for additional information.

Accommodation
Accommodation costs were less than estimate due to the recognition of the Midland building and associated 
land as a finance lease in 2010-11 which has resulted in a portion of the rental costs now being reported 
as finance costs and the repayment of the finance lease liabilities thus reducing the accommodation costs. 
See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’ for additional information.

Impairment loss
This cost is higher than estimate due to the recognition of the impairment loss ($10.47m) in respect to the 
iLand program (see also Note 30 ‘Impairment of assets’).

Resources received free of charge
Resources received free of charge was higher than the estimate due to additional notional charges associated  
with legal costs, procurement and the administration of leases for accommodation.
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50. Explanatory statement - cont.
(ii) Significant variances between actual results for 2010 and 2011

2011 
($’000)

2010
 ($’000)

Variance
 ($’000)

Income

Provision of services 93,254 90,559 2,695 

International services 358 957 (598)

Interest revenue 706 628 79 

Other revenue 1,881 1,342 539 

Expenses

Supplies & services 27,202 26,106 1,096 

Impairment loss 10,474 0 10,474 

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 34,476 31,366 3,110 

Resources received free of charge 732 544 188 
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50. Explanatory statement - cont.

Explanation of variations:
Provision of services
Provision of services revenue was higher than 2009-10 due to additional revenue from valuation work 
with 2010-11 being the final year of the Triennial Metropolitan Revaluation Program partially offset by less 
revenue from land titles management due to the depressed property market.

International services
International services revenue was less than 2009-10 mainly due to a reduced program set for 2010-11.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue was greater than 2009-10 mainly due to an increase in interest rates.    

Other revenue   
Other revenue was higher than 2009-10 mainly due to additional revenue from grants and project related 
activities. 

Supplies & services
Supplies & services was higher than 2009-10 mainly due to higher contracted services mainly in the IT 
contracted services area.    

Other Expenses
Impairment loss was higher than 2009-10 due to the recognition of the impairment loss ($10.47m) in respect 
to the iLand program (see also Note 30 ‘Impairment of assets’). 
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50. Explanatory statement - cont.

Service appropriation
Service appropriation was higher than 2009-10 due to the additional funding for the shortfall related to reduced 
revenues from land titles management and the recoup of expenditure relating to a compensation claim paid 
under the ‘Transfer of Land Act’.  This was offset by the reduction in the 2010-11 service appropriation as a 
result of the one off receipt of funding for the targeted employment separation severances in 2009-10.

Resources received free of charge
Resources received free of charge was higher than the 2009-10 due to additional notional charges associated  
with legal costs, procurement and the administration of leases for accommodation.

The 2009-10 comparative amounts for finance costs and accommodation have been restated in accordance 
with AASB 101 para 41.

See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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Service
Access to Land 

Information Valuations
Access to Government
Geographic Information Total

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Income

Revenue

Provision of services 74,471 78,011 18,783 12,548 0 0 93,254 90,559

Sales of land information data & imagery 6,272 6,265 0 0 0 0 6,272 6,265

International services 358 957 0 0 0 0 358 957

Interest revenue 625 557 76 67 5 4 706 628

Other revenue 1,878 1,097 0 0 3 245 1,881 1,342

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Total income 83,608 86,887 18,859 12,615 8 249 102,475 99,751

Expenses

Employee benefit expenses 52,364 52,194 17,770 17,584 879 777 71,013 70,555

Supplies & services 25,711 24,555 1,035 1,079 456 472 27,202 26,106

Other expenses 5,737 5,765 1,495 1,552 184 489 7,416 7,806

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10,852 11,051 387 410 6 9 11,245 11,470

Finance Costs 2,606 2,757 315 333 21 22 2,942 3,112

Accommodation expenses 4,190 4,234 2,133 1,729 210 163 6,533 6,126

Impairment loss 10,474 0 0 0 0 0 10,474 0

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 10

Total expenses 111,934 100,566 23,135 22,687 1,756 1,932 136,825 125,185 

51. Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
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51. Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service - cont.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements - For the year ended 30 June 2011 - cont.

Service
Access to Land 

Information Valuations
Access to Government
Geographic Information Total

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies from State  
Government (28,326) (13,679) (4,276) (10,072) (1,748) (1,683) (34,350) (25,434)

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 28,506 17,995 4,225 11,691 1,745 1,680 34,476 31,366

Resources received free of charge 631 467 98 74 3 3 732 544

Total grants and subsidies from State Government 29,137 18,462 4,323 11,765 1,748 1,683 35,208 31,910

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit 811 4,783 47 1,693 0 0 858 6,476 

Income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit (710) (1,792)

Profit/(loss) for the period 148 4,684 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The 2009/10 comparative amounts for depreciation expense, finance costs and accommodation expenses have been restated in accordance with AASB 101 para 
41. See also Note 6 ‘Change in prior period comparatives’.
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Certification of the Key Performance Indicators

In the opinion of the Board of Management, 
Western Australian Land Information Authority, the 
accompanying key performance indicators:

are based on proper records; »

are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to  »
assess the Authority’s performance; and 

fairly represent the Authority’s performance for  »
the financial year ended 30 June 2011.  

Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive
Member, Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

7 September 2011    

Geoffrey Hick

Chairman
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority

7 September 2011   



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 172L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends disclosures and legal compliance

4.2 Key Performance Indicators
Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11

Relationship to Government Goals

The following table illustrates the relationship between the Authority’s services, the desired outcomes and 
the relevant Government Goal.  The key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of impact of the delivery 
of services on the achievement of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship 
between the service delivered and the resources used to produce the service.  Refer to the Performance 
Management Framework section of the Annual Report for further details.

Government Goal Outcomes Services

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility:

Ensuring that 
economic activity is 
managed in a socially 
and environmentally 
responsible manner for 
the long-term benefit of 
the State.

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems 
are supported by a land information base and certainty of 
ownership and other interests in land.

Access to Land Information 1. – 
Information about land ownership, land boundaries and 
geographic features is collected, recorded and made 
available for use by government, business and the 
community.

Independent valuations support government’s collection of 
rates and taxes and management of property assets.

Valuations2.  –  
An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

Coordinated access to Western Australian Land Information 
System (WALIS) community members’ geographic information 
supports the management and development of the State.

Access to Government Geographic Information3.  – 
Land or geographic information from Western Australian 
Land Information System Community Members (WCM) 
is managed in a coordinated way so that data held by 
WCM can be integrated and readily accessed to meet 
government, business and community needs.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Outcome:

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a land information base and 
certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 2):

Extent to which the currency and relevance of the Land Information Databases meet the needs of the 
Western Australian community.  

(Note 1 – For comparative purposes the 2008/09 and 2009/10 actuals have been amended to reflect the 
shift in focus from outputs supporting core work processes to core land information databases as outlined 
below.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Landgate maintains its strategic land information datasets in order that they are fit for purpose and match 
the level of land related activity and change through cyclical and targeted data revision.  Currency and 
relevance relate to how well the data itself is kept up to date and the support given to the many requests 
for new and revised information received through the Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) 
Office. As the maintenance is needs-based, the achievement of set targets reflects the extent to which 
these user needs are met and therefore it is an indicator of effectiveness.

Percentage of work program completed
Actual

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Target

2010/11
Actual

2010/11

Extent to which the currency and relevance of the 
Land Information Databases meet the needs of the 
Western Australian community (Note 1)

93% 89% 100% 99%
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

How was the indicator derived? 

For 2010/11, the indicator is derived from those core land information databases that describe and record the 
location and physical attributes of the State’s infrastructure. As reported in 2009/10, Landgate’s geographic 
information focus is now on location products and services with ongoing process improvement.

This year’s indicator introduces Medium Scale Topographic Data and Geographic Naming as core outputs. 
The Medium Scale Topographic Database defines and stores the attributes and location of the State’s 
natural and man made features. The Geographic Naming Database is an authoritative source for official 
and local names of administrative, cultural and geographic features, including streets and roads. Both 
databases are maintained daily.

Previously reported outputs considered to be supporting rather than core work processes including 
Aerotriangulation, Road Centreline Maintenance, Digital Elevation Model Production and Ortho-image 
Production have been excluded. The core databases are: 

Aerial Photography »

Property Street Addressing  »

Geographic Naming »

Spatial Cadastral Upgrade »

Medium Scale Topographic Data »

Large Scale Topographic Data »

The currency of the information provides a measure of Landgate’s effectiveness in responding to land 
development and social changes. Activity targets are set in response to administrative expectations relating 
to development and submissions to the Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) Office.  They 
define the minimum required to maintain the land information base and deliver the needs at the levels of 
accuracy, currency and completeness expected by the users.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

What does this indicator show? 

The indicator shows how well Landgate has maintained its geographic location and land boundary information 
overall. It is an average measured via achievement against targets for each of the core databases. These 
targets are gauged on Landgate’s capacity to satisfy an expected level of data maintenance and user 
community requests for new information as well as maintain cyclic revision programs agreed by the WALIS 
Council. 

In 2010/11 Landgate was on average 99% effective in meeting overall user expectations.  Exceptions 
against individual targets are described as follows:

Property Street Address maintenance actions in 2010/11 fell slightly below the 65,000 estimate at 96%.  »
This was commensurate with the level of development activity.

The target for Geographic Naming has been based on an average expectation derived from previous  »
annual approval rates for feature names. The target was exceeded this year due to the implementation 
of a strategy to link topographic feature Points of Interest to the names register GEONOMA, which 
increased the throughput for topographic name approvals. The link provides a direct association with 
the approved names register, removing erroneous entries in the Topographic Database.

Spatial Cadastral Upgrade during 2010/11 was consistent, achieving slightly more than the target of  »
144,000 points upgraded. Activity focused on the continued progress towards the completion of the first 
pass, targeting parts of the south east metropolitan area and the Mid West and Wheat Belt regions.

Activity associated with Medium-scale Topographic Data Revision is recorded as the number of feature  »
edits applied to the Topographic Database; that is, feature additions, modifications and deletions. It is 
expected the estimate for this relatively new measure will experience some volatility until an indicative 
history is developed. This year the target of 250,000 actions was under estimated by 24%.

2010/11 revision of the Large-scale Topographic Database focused on the central western metropolitan  »
area and city of Bunbury. A shortfall was recorded against the numerical target measured as the number 
of 1:2000 scale sheet tile equivalents revised. This was predominantly due to an increased work effort 
required to capture the many infrastructure changes encountered for these rapidly developing areas. 
Future measurement of this output will be aligned with the Medium-scale model which records the 
number of editing actions applied to the database.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Outcome:

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a land information base and 
certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 2):

Claims against registered interests as a result of fraud, negligence or errors, settled by the Crown.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The indicator provides a measure of the State’s success in maintaining an accurate land titles register. It 
shows the settled claims against the State arising from fraud, negligence or errors involving the certainty of 
land ownership within the State.

Actual
2008/09

Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

Number of claims settled by Crown 1 0 0 1
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

How was the indicator derived?

The indicator is derived from a register that records new, current or rejected claims made for monetary 
compensation against the State concerning registered interests in land under the Transfer of Land Act 1893 
(excludes minor ex gratia payments).

The following definitions apply:

“Fraud” means the illegal activities by a person or persons other than the registered owner or owners to effect 
changes to the existing interests recorded on a Certificate of Title or other land transaction document.

“Negligence or errors” means the actions or errors attributed to the Registrar of Titles or to conveyancers, but 
not detected, which affect the land register or clients ability to successfully complete land transactions.

What does the indicator show?

In 2010/2011 there was one successful claim for fraud for which compensation was paid under the Transfer 
of Land Act 1893 from the Consolidated Fund.  This one successful claim does not indicate an underlying 
trend involving fraud, negligence or errors.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Service 1:

Access to Land Information

Service description:

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features is collected, recorded and 
made available for use by Government, business and the community.

Key Efficiency Indicator (1 of 2):

(Note 1- The method of accounting of the lease arrangements of the Midland building and associated land 
changed from an operating lease to a finance lease during 2010/11 effective from 1 July 2008 resulting in a 
reduction in the total costs for this service in 2008/09 and 2009/10.  As a result the average cost per action 
for the prior years has been recalculated for comparative purposes.)

Actual
2008/09

Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

Average cost per land registration action (Note 1) $32.12 $32.16 $32.00 $39.69
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land registration actions include a range of activities associated with registered land transactions.  The 
most common include document searches, examination and registration of interests on land.  The last two 
involve incorporating changes made to a Certificate of Title.  Typically, changes concern land ownership 
details on a title, applications for a new title for subdivisional land development, caveats, leases, powers of 
attorney, and other minor adjustments to land titles.

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost of recording on Government guaranteed land titles the 
range of interests, boundaries and ownership relevant to that land.  This is a clear indicator of the efficiency 
with which the land registration system and service is maintained.

How was the indicator derived?

The number of transactions is derived from a recording and checking system that reports the number of:

Documents examined for registration against the title;  »

Certificates of Title created; »

Document search requests received; and »

Number of lots created. »

The cost of registration actions includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead 
recurrent costs.  The cost of land registration actions is recovered via charges to users for each transaction.  
Each charge is calculated on a full cost recovery basis.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

What does this indicator show?

As a result of the slowing property market, the number of land registration actions ended the year 15.9% 
below target.  Although Landgate introduced efficiencies and instigated cost savings initiatives that reduced 
costs, the inclusion of the impairment loss associated with the iLand Program along with the slowing market 
resulted in the average unit cost being 24% greater than anticipated.

Landgate is working at a number of levels to achieve efficiencies in its registration processes.  Over the next 
few years Landgate will drive down the costs associated with administering the Western Australian Land 
Titles Register for the benefit of the community.
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Service 1:

Access to Land Information

Service description:

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features is collected, recorded and 
made available for use by Government, business and the community.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Key Efficiency Indicator (2 of 2):
Actual

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Target

2010/11
Actual

2010/11

Average cost per land information action (Note 1 & 2) $41.07 $37.58 $19.52 $18.49

(Note 1 - The average cost per land information action target and actual for 2010/11 differs from what was 
previously reported as a consequence of a change in the measurement methodology of actions for aerial 
photography.  See below for more details.    

Note 2 - The method of accounting of the lease arrangements of the Midland building and associated land 
changed from an operating lease to a finance lease during 2010/11 effective from 1 July 2008 resulting in a 
reduction in the total costs for this service in 2008/09 and 2009/10.  As a result the average cost per action 
for the prior years has been recalculated for comparative purposes.)
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land information actions include a range of activities associated with the capture, production and 
maintenance of physical land and land boundary information in Landgate’s datasets.  These datasets 
include information about:

Cadastre; »

Geodetic marks; »

Administrative boundaries; »

Landscape relief (ie contours); »

Cultural, or built environment, and natural features; »

Aerial photography; »

Satellite imagery; »

Geographic Names; »

Property Street Addresses; »

Road Centreline (ie position of constructed roads); »

Native Title Claims; and »

Baselines/territorial sea limits »

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost of maintaining an up-to-date Government land information 
base and the costs involved represent a key indicator of efficiency.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

How was the indicator derived?

The number of actions is derived from recording systems that report the above list of items.

The cost of land information actions includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and 
overhead recurrent costs.

The 2010/11 result is not directly comparable to previous years due to a significant shift in the capture 
methodology for aerial photography from analogue frames to direct digital continuous strips which can 
only be measured in terms of land area covered. The area of land visible on a frame of photography and 
measured in square kilometres (km²) is scale dependant but generally substantially more than the overall 
frame count for any land parcel. While this measure contributes to an apparent reduction in unit cost per land 
information action, the actual work value remains comparable to previous years. The 2008/09 and 2009/10 
comparatives have not been amended as it is only possible to approximate a frames to km² relationship.

What does this indicator show?

The number of land information actions achieved was 10.1% higher than the target and along with a 
concerted effort to retain costs the average unit cost was 5.3% below target.

Process improvements have continued to deliver productivity gains predominantly from technical system 
changes affecting recording and retrieval of actions.
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Outcome:

Independent valuations support Governments’ collection of rates and taxes, and management of property 
assets.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 2):

International standards for accuracy and uniformity of rating and taxing values are met.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Actual
2008/09

Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

Benchmark against international standards for 
accuracy using Median Ratio Test:

Gross Rental Value 92.59% 94.18% >92.5% 92.2%

Unimproved Value 91.52% 91.86% >92.5% 92%

Coefficient of dispersion to check uniformity of 
values:

Gross Rental Value 5.70% 3.96% <7.00% 4.2%

Unimproved Value 4.08% 4.28% <15.00% 3.75%
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

State and local governments rely on impartial, uniform and accurate property values as a base for levying 
rates and taxes.  Therefore, measuring the uniformity and accuracy of valuations provides a useful indicator 
of our contribution to their effectiveness in meeting this outcome.

How was this indicator derived?

The uniformity and accuracy of Unimproved Values are checked against international ratio standards 
published by the International Association of Assessing Officers (IAAO) in their ‘Standard on Ratio Studies’. 
Coefficient of Dispersion (COD) and the Median Value Price Ratio (MPR) tests are the key standards. These 
are used extensively in both Australia and New Zealand.  Both were adopted as ideal indicators suited to 
Western Australia. Gross Rental Values are compared against our own standards developed in 1998 along 
similar lines to the IAAO land value standards. 

In relation to the MPR, the IAAO Standards state that “the overall level of appraisal for a jurisdiction.... for 
vacant land.... should be between 90 percent and 110 percent”, and that the “Coefficient of Dispersion 
(COD) for vacant land should be 20 percent or less”. In larger urban jurisdictions dealing with uniform land 
releases and availability of sales, the COD should be <15%.
 
For Unimproved Values the Valuer General of Western Australia has set an MPR standard of >92.5% and a 
COD of <15%.

While there is currently no international standard for Gross Rental Values, the Valuer General has adopted 
the same accuracy and uniformity measures applying to Unimproved Values but with a tighter COD target 
of <7%.

The quality of the outcome is reflected in the extent to which the results exceed the minimum targets.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.
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What does this indicator show?

For Gross Rental Values the outcomes show the following:

The MPR shows 92.2% against a target of >92.5% measured from a sample of 11,050 key rents. The 
outcome, while just outside the target range is similar to the 92.6% MPR achieved in 2007/08 at the time 
of the last triennial general valuation of the Perth Metropolitan Region. The MPR was determined on a 
statistical analysis which compared gross rental values with market based residential rents occurring 
between 1 May 2009 and 31 August 2009 in the Perth Metropolitan Region and between 1 January 2010 
and 31 August 2010 in country areas.  Non residential rents were compared between 1 January 2009 and 
31 August 2009 in the Perth Metropolitan Region and during 1 September 2009 and 31 August 2010 in the 
country.  Any increases in market rentals occurring towards the end of these periods can have the effect of 
slightly decreasing the MPR. 

Aside from being well within the adopted standard, the COD of 4.2% is the second lowest recorded over the 
last four years and only slightly higher than last year’s result of 3.96%. Taken together the results of these 
tests show a very satisfactory outcome.

For Unimproved Values the outcomes show the following:

The MPR of 92% is 0.5% below the target >92.5%.  This outcome is better than the results achieved in 
2009/10 (91.86%) and 2008/09 (91.52%).  A contributing factor to this year’s result was that land value 
movement was generally flat or continuing to slightly ease around the date of valuation of 1 August 2010.  
The MPR was determined on a statistical analysis which compared assessed values with sales occurring 
between 1 June and 31 August 2010. Any falls in value occurring towards the end of this period can have 
the effect of slightly increasing the MPR. 

The COD at 3.75% is well inside the international standard and is slightly better than the results of 4.28% 
achieved in 2009/10 and 4.08% recorded in 2008/09 after the global financial crisis.  The COD is a measure 
of the divergence between the assessed land values and unadjusted selling prices over a designated period 
wrapped around the date of valuation.  With the date of valuation set almost midway within this period, it is 
understandable that there can be increased pressure on the COD in a changing market than was the case 
during 2010/11 where land price movement remained generally subdued.   
  

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.
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Outcome:

Independent valuations support Governments’ collection of rates and taxes, and management of property 
assets.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 2):

Adjustments of rating and taxing values as a result of Objections and Appeals as a percentage of total 
values in force.

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The percentage of values amended as a consequence of owners exercising their right to challenge values is 
a reasonable measure of the integrity and fairness of the values contained in Valuation Rolls.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Actual
2008/09

Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

Adjustments to rating and taxing values as a result 
of Objections and Appeals as a percentage of total 
values in force

0.0406% 0.031% <0.2% 0.0177%
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How was this indicator derived?

The figure is derived by dividing the number of values that have been amended as a result of an objection 
or appeal by the total number of rating and taxing values in force.  

What does this indicator show?

At 30 June 2011, there were 1,956,688 values in force in Western Australia.  During the year 346 of these 
were amended as a result of formal objections determined by the Valuer General or reviews by the State 
Administrative Tribunal.  This indicates that less than one in every 5,655 values was amended. The outcome 
remains well below the international standard and indicates a return to traditional levels after peaking in 
2008/09 as a consequence of the increased volatility in the land market after the global financial crisis.   

Apart from demonstrating the effectiveness of the valuation process in WA, these results also show the 
stability of the valuation base and its general acceptance by ratepayers and taxpayers.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.
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Service 2:

Valuations

Service description:

An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

(Note 1 - The method of accounting of the lease arrangements of the Midland building and associated land 
changed from an operating lease to a finance lease during 2010/11 effective from 1 July 2008 resulting in a 
reduction in the total costs for this service in 2008/09 and 2009/10.  As a result the average cost per action 
for the prior years has been recalculated for comparative purposes.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The number of valuations made and the average cost per valuation provide a reliable measure of overall 
performance against forecast targets and previous years’ outcomes. Some variation does occur from year 
to year due to the cyclical nature of the gross rental valuation (GRV) program, with 2010/11 being the second 
of two years of increased GRV mass appraisal activity in the three year Perth metropolitan region program.  

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Key Efficiency Indicator: 
Actual

2007/08
Actual

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Target

2010/11
Actual

2010/11

Average cost per valuation  (Note 1) $12.40 $17.56 $14.91 $13.49 $12.80
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How was this indicator derived?

Cost per value refers to the total cost per value of unimproved and gross rental values including general 
valuations, interim valuations, objections, appeals and queries made during the financial year, and other 
valuations including stamp duty, market, and asset valuations, and property related valuation consultancy 
services.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show?

The average cost per valuation of $12.80 was 5.1% less than the target of $13.49. This year is the final 
year of the triennial general valuation of the Perth Metropolitan Region and when compared to the previous 
revaluation year (2007/08) is only 3.2% higher at $12.40.   

This outcome shows the excellent result reflecting the internal efficiencies (eg. Workplace reforms and low 
staff turnover) and the ability to retain costs lower than expected.  

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.
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Outcome:

Coordinated access to Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) community members’ 
geographic information supports the management and development of the State.  

(N/A - Not Available)

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Key Effectiveness Indicator:
Actual

2007/08
Actual

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Target

2010/11
Actual

2010/11

Useability of WALIS spatial 
information is determined by user 
awareness, acceptance and reuse:

Awareness
Percentage increase in first time 
participants at WALIS functions 20% 3% 10% 5% 3%

Percentage increase in repeat 
participants at WALIS functions 20% 4% 15% 15% 4%

Acceptance
Percentage increase in the number of 
first time customers accessing spatial 
information from WALIS community 
members 32% 7% 9% 20% N/A

Reuse
Percentage increase in the number of 
return customers accessing spatial 
information from WALIS community 
members. 81% 20% 21% 20% N/A
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) is an alliance of State Government agencies, local 
government and private organisations that share and make available land-related information to the private 
sector and the community. The role of the WALIS Office is to facilitate and coordinate this access to high 
quality spatial information. Effective access can be demonstrated by the useability of spatial information, 
and this is reflected by user awareness, acceptance and reuse.

How was the indicator derived?

Awareness is measured in terms of the number of first time and repeat participants recorded at WALIS 
educational and information functions, including the WALIS Forum that is held once every 18 months.  A 
baseline was set during 2005/06, and the first time and repeat participants have been calculated from that 
baseline.  The WALIS Office maintains contact information about participants and is able to report on the 
number who attend for the first time and the number who have attended previously.   

Acceptance and Reuse is measured in terms of the number of new and existing customers of WALIS 
spatial data and information custodians. The reporting figures were gathered using SLIP Enabler Operations 
Reports.  A baseline was set during 2006/07, and the new and repeat customers for 2007/08 onwards have 
been calculated from that baseline. This replaces the way in which the data was previously calculated and 
better reflects the increasing trend for customers to access data through the internet. 

It is important to note that calculations for reporting 2008/09 are different to that in 2006/07 and 2007/08.  
In 2006/07 and 2007/08 the figures were extrapolated from 12 random dates throughout the year for each 
agency.  The figures were an estimate which relied upon accurate recording of usage by the agencies.  SLIP 
Enabler became operational to the business community in September 2008 and the figures for 2008/09 and 
onwards were obtained by running reports for new and current users.    

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.
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What does the indicator show?

Awareness - Results are lower than forecast due to the major conference event, the International Society 
for Digital Earth Symposium (ISDE) incorporating WALIS forum, being held later than originally forecast 
i.e. in the 2011/12 financial year, rather than 2010/11. This event attracts most of the first time and repeat 
participants at WALIS functions in each reporting period.

Acceptance and Reuse - Full reporting of figures on the numbers of first time and repeat customers were not 
available through the Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP). To address this issue Landgate is reviewing 
the key performance indicator’s reliance on the reports from SLIP, with the intent that these be replaced by 
new measures in 2011/12.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.
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Service 3:

Access to Government Geographic Information

Service description:

Land or geographic information from WALIS community members (WCM) is managed in a coordinated 
way so that data held by WCM can be integrated and readily accessed to meet government, business and 
community needs.

(Note1- The method of accounting of the lease arrangements of the Midland building and associated land 
has been changed from an operating lease to a finance lease during 2010/11 effective from 1 July 2008 
resulting in a reduction in the total costs for this service in 2008/09 and 2009/10.  As a result the average 
cost per action for the prior years has been recalculated for comparative purposes.)

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.

Key Efficiency Indicator:
Actual

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Target

2010/11
Actual

2010/11

Average cost per Key Result Area   (Note 1) $280,000 $322,000 $300,833 $292,667
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Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The WALIS Office is responsible for managing and coordinating the achievement of its Annual Business 
Plan, which aims to meet the priorities and objectives set out in the WALIS Strategy 2007-2010. This year 
(2010/11) is a transition year. WALIS Office contributed to the development of a Location Information Strategy, 
which will set the direction for WALIS until 2015. The draft of this strategy was completed in 2010, however 
has been awaiting formal Government endorsement. Given this situation, WALIS Office has continued to 
operate under the priorities and objectives of its 2007-2010 Strategy and its six key result areas. In addition 
to this, WALIS Office has begun working on components of the Location Information Strategy in preparation 
for the 2011/12 year when it is expected that this strategy will begin its implementation period.

Therefore the average cost of delivering the six key result areas has been adopted as a useful measure of 
efficiency.  

How was the indicator derived?

The total cost of these projects reflects the entire cost of the WALIS Office, and includes all direct costs 
and an appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs. The six areas are policy, relationship 
management, data quality, data infrastructure and access, framework and business operations.

What does the indicator show?

For 2010/11, the average cost per key result area was $292,667, which is 2.7% lower than target and 9.1% 
lower than 2009/10.  This was largely due to efficiencies introduced by Landgate over the year to ensure 
that costs were contained within budget.

Western Australian Land Information Authority  
Key Performance Indicators 2010/11 - cont.
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4.3 Ministerial Directives

4.4 Other Financial Disclosures

Under section 65(3) of the Land Information Authority Act 2006, Landgate is required to include in its annual 
report the text of a written direction given to it by the Minister, relating to the performance of Landgate’s 
functions. There were no directions given during 2010/11.

Pricing Policies of Service Provided

Landgate Pricing Policies

Under Treasurer’s Instruction 903, section 13(i), Landgate is required to advise of the policies underlying the 
pricing of its goods and services and, where appropriate provide references to relevant public documents 
that contain pricing information.
 
For the major categories of goods and services provided by Landgate, the following pricing policies apply:  

Land Registrations

The setting of fees for land transaction document and memorial registration and survey plan lodgement are 
made pursuant to section 181of the Transfer of Land Act 1893; section 130 of the Strata Titles Act 1985; 
and section 22 of the Registration of Deeds Act 1856. 
 
The basis for determining the cost of these services is in accordance with the concepts set out in “Costing 
and Pricing Government Services” produced by the Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF). 
 
The 2010/11 schedule of fees for these services was implemented on 1 July 2010, in accordance with DTF’s 
annual budget cycle. The amending regulations for the 2010/11 schedule of fees were published in the 
Government Gazette on 18 June 2010.
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Land Searches

Similarly, the schedule of fees for inspecting and copying (searching) land registration information, including 
Certificates of Title, survey plans and documents was implemented on 1 July 2010. The schedule of fees for 
these searching services was implemented in accordance with DTF’s annual budget cycle. The amending 
regulations for the 2010/11 schedule of fees were published in the Government Gazette on 18 June 2010.

Land Valuations

Pricing for valuations and valuation consulting services are made under the powers contained within the 
Valuation of Land Act 1978 and the Land Information Authority Act 2006. Landgate’s pricing framework also 
applies.

Other Goods and Services

These products and services cover a broad range of technical and market driven endeavours and include: 

Maps and aerial photography; »

Remote sensing satellite imagery; »

Native Title mapping; »

Geospatial data sales; »

Property value and sales information; »

Land information enterprises; and »

Land and property market. »

Prices of non-regulatory goods and services produced and delivered by Landgate are determined in 
accordance with Landgate’s pricing framework.
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Other Goods and Services - cont.

This framework ensures that the Authority complies with the pricing principles as detailed in section 16 of 
the Land Information Authority Act 2006, with State Government policy for the pricing of land information 
and with Government requirements for the costing and pricing of goods and services.
 
The pricing framework includes processes and procedures to ensure prices are set in a transparent, 
methodical and accountable way.
 
Prices applying to these products and services are available from Landgate’s Midland office, Landgate’s 
Cloisters office and online.

Capital Works

Landgate’s capital works consists of five programs:

Spatial Infrastructure (formerly Data Quality Improvement)

This program provides for the support of the implementation of the spatial vision, which is aimed at 
transforming the spatial information sector.  Activities also continue to include the maintenance and 
improvement of the 14 fundamental datasets that are the basis of Landgate’s operations and crucial to the 
operations of government, industry and the wider community.  This program ensures the data meets the 
quality requirements of users.  

Commercial Products and Services

This program provides for the research and development of new products and services and the continual 
improvement of online business initiatives to meet government and community needs.  The primary activities 
of this program include developing web-enabled products, improving service delivery of key business 
solutions and extending mapping products to the commercial, private and government sectors.  



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 199

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends

L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

disclosures and legal compliance

Asset Replacement

This program provides for the ongoing replacement and upgrade of Landgate’s facilities, including various 
information technology assets, accommodation and third party software systems up to current standards.

Business Infrastructure

This program improves efficiency and increases capacity of the business support systems that underpin 
Landgate’s operations.  It includes hardware, software and networks to allow improvement to customer and 
staff access, greater response and better functionality through automation, security and monitoring. 

iLand

This program provided for the redevelopment of major internal business systems and will ensure that 
Landgate has the capacity to effectively deliver core functions and data in the face of increased demand 
for integrated services and technological change. In March 2011 this program was suspended in light of 
the depressed property market, significant increases in IT development and maintenance costs, delays 
in the NECS initiative and the underlying approach used in the initial business case.  Landgate is now 
developing a more sustainable strategy that will look to fulfil the envisaged benefits including completion 
of operational efficiencies through business process automation and redesign of current manual processes 
that will position Landgate to implement an integrated ‘end to end’ service that meets our customers’ 
requirements.
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Minor delays were experienced across all programs causing work to be carried over for completion in the 
early stages of 2011/12.  The $0.27m is committed expenditure as at 30 June 2011.  

Capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2011 was as follows:

Program
Capital Expenditure 

($’000)
Estimated Cost to 

Complete ($’000)

Spatial Infrastructure 1,461 38

Commercial Products and Services 1,471   7

Asset Replacement 1,344 96

Business Infrastructure 3,042         129

iLand 7,245   0

Total     14,563         270
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4.5 Governance Disclosures
An insurance premium for the period 1 March 2011 to 1 March 2012, totalling $16,071, was paid to indemnify 
Landgate’s Directors against liability incurred under sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability 
of Directors) Act 1996.

Act of Grace Payments made from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011

Refund of fee paid concerning Requisition issued in error. »

Costs incurred in replacing a transfer that was misplaced at Landgate prior to registration. »

Costs incurred in replacing a discharge that was misplaced at Landgate prior to registration. »

Perth CBD, 2011
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4.6 Other Legal Requirements
Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes; Equal Opportunity Outcomes and Occupational Safety and 
Injury Management 

For information on Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes; Equal Opportunity Outcomes and Occupational 
Safety and Injury Management see Appendix Three.

Equal Opportunity Outcomes

For information on Equal Opportunity Outcomes see Appendix Four.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management 

For information on Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management see Appendix Five.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
(Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31 (1) 

For information on Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes (Public Sector Management 
Act 1994, S31 (1) see Appendix Six.

Advertising Information

For information on Advertising see Appendix Seven.

Recordkeeping Plans

For information on Recordkeeping Plans see Appendix Eight.
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disclosures and legal compliance

Freedom of Information Applications for 2010/11

Throughout the year, ten valid applications were received seeking access to non-personal information. 
One of these was transferred in full to another Authority. There was also one application for internal review 
lodged. Statistics regarding 2010/11 applications are provided in the Information Commissioner’s Annual 
Report at www.foi.wa.gov.au

Information Enquiries

Requests for access to documents should be made, in the first instance, to the Customer Service Officers 
at the Authority’s public counter. Often material may be made available without the need to formalise a 
request under Freedom of Information. A formal FOI application is required to access documents that are 
not available as part of the normal course of business.

Receipt of FOI Applications

FOI applications, payments, correspondence and general enquiries should be directed to:

FOI Coordinator
Landgate
PO Box 2222
Midland   WA   6936
Telephone (08) 9273 7565
Facsimile (08) 9273 7666.

FOI application forms are available from the Authority’s website at http://www.landgate.wa.gov.au/ or from 
the FOI Coordinator.



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 204

overview of the authority authority performance significant issues and trends

L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

disclosures and legal compliance

Fees and Charges

The rate of fees and charges are set under the FOI Act. 

Application fee for non-personal information is $30.00;  »

There are no fees for applications for personal information about the applicant; »

Charges for dealing with the application are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a  »
part of an hour;

Charges for supervising inspection of documents are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro  »
rata for a part of an hour;

Charges for photocopying are $30.00 per hour for staff time and 20c per copy; »

Charges for time taken by staff transcribing information from a tape or other device are set at a standard  »
rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour;

Charges for duplicating a tape, film or computer information will be the actual cost; and »

Charges for delivery, packaging and postage will be the actual cost.  »

Processing Applications

Processing of FOI applications is coordinated centrally while initial decision-making is generally decentralised 
to the managers responsible for the issue in question, due to their knowledge of current action.
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disclosures and legal compliance

Notice of Decision

Applicants are provided with written notice of the Authority’s decision, including the following information:

Date of the decision. »

Name and designation of the decision-maker. »

Reasons for deleting any matter. »

Reasons for deferring access. »

Arrangements for giving access. »

Reasons for refusing access to any matter. »

The amount and basis for any charges levied. »

The rights of review and procedures to be followed. »

Review Rights

If the applicant or third party is aggrieved with a decision made by the Authority, they have the right to 
submit a written request for a review of that decision. This must be done within 30 days of receiving notice 
of the decision. The review will be conducted by a person other than the person who made the original 
decision, is not subordinate to that person and is usually a member of the Legal Services Section. The 
Authority must respond with a written notice of decision within 15 days. There is no lodgement fee payable 
for internal reviews. If the applicant or third party is still aggrieved, they may lodge a written complaint to 
the Office of the Information Commissioner within 60 days following the internal review decision (30 days 
for third parties). The Commissioner’s decision is final unless an appeal is made to the Supreme Court on 
a question of law. 
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disclosures and legal compliance

Amendment of Personal Information

Personal information held on the public registers maintained by the Authority in accordance with statutes, 
such as Land Title Registers maintained under the Transfer of Land Act 1893, may be amended in accordance 
with procedures set out in the legislation. Other personal information held on the Authority’s records may be 
amended by application to the FOI Coordinator. This provision exists to ensure the Authority does not unfairly 
harm the person referred to, misrepresent facts about them or give a misleading impression. Applicants must 
provide details and, if necessary, documentation in support of their claim to amend inaccurate, incomplete, 
out of date or misleading information.
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Appendix One
Legislation Administered 

Enabling Legislation

The Land Information Authority Act 2006 establishes a Statutory Authority to administer certain land 
information and provide and promote the use of this information and related goods and services. The 
Authority is an agent of the State.

Legislation Administered 

The Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) is responsible for the administration of 
numerous Acts of Parliament relating to land.  Those most directly affecting the Authority’s daily business 
activities are: 

Transfer of Land Act 18931.  – establishes the Torrens System of registering freehold tenure, transactions 
and interests over land;

Valuation of Land Act 19782.  – provides for the valuation of land for rating and taxing purposes, the 
statutory office holder of Valuer-General, establishment of the valuation roll and other purposes;

Licensed Surveyors Act 19093.  – provides for the registration, licensing and practice of land surveyors, 
the making of authorised surveys and establishment of the Land Surveyors Licensing Board; 

Strata Titles Act 19854.  – provides for the horizontal and vertical subdivision of freehold land under the 
Transfer of Land Act 1893 and for the management of strata schemes;

Registration of Deeds Act 18565.  – establishes a system of registering conveyances, wills and other 
deeds affecting land other than Crown Land and land under the Transfer of Land Act 1893;

Standard Survey Marks Act 19246.  – provides for the making of standard surveys and establishment of 
standard survey marks; and

Sale of Land Act 19707.  – consolidates and amends the law relating to the sale of land.
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Legislation Administered - cont.

Legislation affecting Landgate’s activities

In carrying out its functions and powers, Landgate is affected by more than 100 different Acts administered 
by other departments or agencies.  Some of the most significant of these are:

Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972

Auditor General Act 2006

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 

Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1998

Carbon Rights Act 2003

Civil Judgments Enforcement Act 2004

Conservation and Land Management Act 1984

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) – KW to follow up please

Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000

Duties Act 2008

Evidence Act 1906

Forest Products Act 2000

Guardianship and Administration Act 1990

Indian Ocean Territories (Administration of Laws) Act 1992

Land Administration Act 1997

Limitation Act 2005 

Local Government Act 1995

Magistrates Court Act 2004

Native Title (State Provisions) Act 1999

Native Title Act (Commonwealth) 1993

Oaths Affidavits and Statutory Declarations Act 2005

Planning and Development Act 2005

Stamp Act 1921

Tree Plantation Agreements Act 2003
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Legislation Administered - cont. 
In the performance of its obligations as a Government Authority, Landgate complies with the following 
Acts:

A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax Act) 1999

Auditor General Act 2006

Competition and Consumer Act 2010

Competition Policy Reform (Western Australia) Act 1996

Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

Disability Services Act 1993

Duties Act 2008

Electoral Act 1907

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Fair Trading Act 2010

Financial Management Act 2006

Financial Management (Transitional Provisions) Act 2006

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment Act 1986

Government Financial Responsibility Act 2000

Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)

Income Tax Assessment Act 1997

Income Tax Act 1986

Income Tax Rates Act 1986

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Land Tax Assessment Act 2002

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971

Payroll Tax Assessment Act 2002

Payroll Tax Act 2002
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Legislation Administered - cont. 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

Public Sector Management Act 1994 

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

State Enterprises (Commonwealth Tax Equivalents) Act 1996

State Superannuation Act 2000

State Supply Commission Act 1991

State Records Act 2000

Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996

State Trading Concerns Act 1916

Taxation Administration Act 2003

Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

Strata Titles Reforms

The Strata Titles Act 1985 (STA) regulates the creation of strata lots and the operation and management of 
strata schemes. As such, it is important legislation for Western Australia. This is recognised in two recent 
reviews of the legislation.
 
In the first review, the Community Titles Advisory Committee, a ministerial advisory committee, proposed 
a number of changes to the STA to improve the operations and management of strata schemes. These 
included the recognition of strata managers and improved appeal provisions. A Bill to give effect to these 
proposals is being drafted.
 
In a second, complementary review, the Tenure Legislation Review Committee, comprising industry, 
Government and community representatives, has formulated legislative proposals to expand the range of 
strata tenure options and allow for different strata tenures and land uses to be combined within the same 
strata scheme. The reforms aim to make WA more attractive for strata title developments and to encourage 
more investment in innovative, sustainable and affordable strata products. The proposals are expected to 
be finalised in the first half of 2011/12 before being submitted to the Minister for Lands.
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Appendix Two
Corporate Governance 

Landgate continues to strengthen its Risk Management Framework, based on the International Standards 
ISO:31000.  The focus on incorporating risk management into the operating and decision making 
methodologies throughout the Authority continues.

This approach is diverse and is managed by the Audit and Risk Management Branch through the following 
ways:

Risk identification and management within business units, projects and strategic objectives. »

Business Continuity programs to allow for continued achievement of Landgate’s regulatory  »
obligations.

Development of a Compliance Framework focusing on mandatory requirements, best practice, codes  »
of conduct and internal policy.  The clear management of insurance provides a risk mitigation strategy 
where appropriate.

Internal Auditing of compliance, operational (including IT activities) and project programs allowing for  »
clear independent assessment to be undertaken.

Support of Landgate’s internal auditing program with work undertaken by the Office of the Auditor  »
General (OAG).

To sustain clear governance, the Audit and Risk Management Branch reports directly to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee. This Committee is a subset of the Landgate Board of Management as prescribed 
in the WA Land Information Authority (WALIA) Act (2006).
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Corporate Governance - cont.
Key work carried out during 2010/11 includes:

Establishment of a Compliance Coordinator to focus directly on Landgate’s obligations as indicated  »
above.

Improving risk and compliance awareness within the project management framework.  »

Validation of Landgate’s operational, IT, financial and compliance control management through Internal  »
Audit work in the areas of:

Commercial Agreements -

Innovation and Research -

Intellectual Property and Copyright -

Marketing and Communications -

IT Governance and Compliance Framework -

Legacy Systems -

IT Change Management -

Landgate has an appointed Public Interest Disclosure officer in compliance with the Public Interest Disclosure 
(PID) Act 2003.
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Appendix Three
Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
(Disability Services Act 1993 S29)

Landgate continues to follow the five year Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP), submitted in 2007 to 
the Disability Services Commission (DSC). An annual progress report is presented to DSC in July. The DAIP 
provides a framework outlining a number of strategies to be followed by Landgate. 

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, 1. 
and any events organised by, a public authority. 

Landgate ensures all planned events and activities provide access for people with disabilities.

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings and 2. 
other facilities of a public authority.  

Landgate buildings provide ramps and wide, automatically opening doors for ease of access. A ramp 
from the Disability parking bay at the Midland Centre to the front reception area is easily reached. 
Automatic door openers have been placed in strategic locations to improve access for staff and 
customers with disabilities. 

A Disabled toilet is available for use by the public and wheelchair and hearing impaired services are also 
available at the Midland Customer Centre. Landgate has continued to successfully apply to the Federal 
Government for workplace modifications. 

People with disabilities receive information from a public authority in a format that will enable 3. 
them to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it. 

Access to information about Landgate’s services is available by various mechanisms including in person, 
telephone, TTY, internet and email. Information is available in alternative format on request. Landgate’s 
web services are designed to W3C standards. Landgate has a substantial pool of interpreters within its 
staff cohort, and these staff are available to translate for Landgate customers.
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Disability and Inclusion Plan Outcomes - cont.

People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of a public 4. 
authority as other people receive from the staff of that public authority.

Landgate Customer Service staff are provided with awareness training for providing services to 
customers with disability in their induction program. The Landgate DAIP and Diversity Plans have been 
incorporated into the Staff Consultancy Committee to ensure that training and awareness in these areas 
of community responsibility are directed by and report to the staff who are delivering our services. The 
Staff Consultancy Committee includes representatives with disabilities to ensure a focus is maintained 
in this area.

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints to a 5. 
public authority.  

Landgate’s complaints management system and its feedback mechanisms are accessible to all 
customers and are available through all contact mediums.

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 6. 
consultation by a public authority. 

All market research carried out is conducted by a reputable firm who is aware of DAIP Outcome 6. 
Random collection protocols are unbiased and do not identify whether a participant has a disability  
or not.

appendix threeappendix two appendix sixappendix four appendix five appendix seven appendix eightappendix one



Previous | Contents | Next

Landgate Annual Repor t 2011 216L o c a t i o n  K n o w l e d g e

Equal Opportunity Outcomes 

Women in Management

Landgate continues to make good progress of 40 to 50 per cent in its representation of women at Tier 2.

Appendix Four

appendix four

Objectives 2010 Actual 2010

Distribution (Equity Index) 65 64

Management Tier 1 - 0%

Management Tier 2 37.50%

Management Tier 3 - 51.85%

Management Tier 2 & 3 Combined 45% 42.5%
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Diversity Progress Report - Representation

Note: The equity index is a measure of compression – the extent to which members of a given diversity 
group are primarily found at the lower classification levels. An index below 100 denotes that members 
in the group are “compressed” into the lower working levels; the lower the index the greater degree of 
compression. Conversely, an index above 100 shows that members in that group are well represented at 
the upper classification levels.

Objectives 2010 Actual 2010

Indigenous Australians
% representation 1% <1%

Equity index NA NA

Culturally Diverse Backgrounds
% representation 17% 17%

Equity index 100 100

People with Disabilities
% representation 5% 7%

Equity index 70 74

Youth
% representation 9% 6%

Equity index NA 23
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Diversity Progress Report - Representation - cont.

Employee Representation by Division (%)

Business Unit
2010/2011  

% of employees

Office of the Chief Executive 1.30%

Strategy & Reform 6.50%

Operations 66.30%

Corporate Services 23.10%

Business Development 2.80%

Landgate’s average full-time equivalent level for 2010/11 was 871.4 employees. During the year, 68 vacant 
positions were filled on a permanent or fixed term basis.

Employee Representation by Employment Status

2009/2010  
% of employees

2010/2011  
% of employees

Full-time 90.5 88.60

Part-time 9.1 11.30

Casual <1 <1

Permanent 91.8 96.30

Fixed Term Contract 7.9 3.50

Casual <1 <1
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Occupational Safety, Health And Injury Management 

Statement of commitment to occupational safety and health, and injury management

Landgate is dedicated to taking all reasonable precautions to provide and maintain an environment that is 
safe and without health risks to its employees, contractors and visitors. This commitment is articulated in 
Landgate’s Occupational Safety and Health Policy Statement, displayed in prominent locations throughout 
all Landgate workplaces.
 
Landgate is committed to ensuring a safe and healthy workplace for all employees, contractors and 
visitors by:

Nurturing the continuous improvement of workplace safety, health conditions and culture; »

Acknowledging and accepting a shared responsibility for the safety and health of all persons who may  »
be affected by Landgate’s activities;

Promoting a consultative environment that will resolve issues while proactively developing and improving  »
occupational safety and health (OSH) systems in the workplace;

Providing and maintaining workplaces and systems of work so (as far as practicable) people are not  »
exposed to hazards;

Providing appropriate financial, physical and human resources to ensure effective implementation,  »
maintenance and improvement of OSH systems; and 

Supporting OSH performance based objectives and targets to continuously improve and eliminate  »
work-related illness and injury.

The OSH policy is supported by the Landgate OSH Guidance Manual, which details procedures and 
guidelines on general OSH management systems and processes as well as the management of particular 
OSH Risks. 

Appendix Five
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Occupational Safety, Health And Injury Management - cont.
Landgate is also committed to providing confidential, equitable and timely management of employee 
injuries and illnesses in accordance with the guidelines for injury management set down by WorkCover 
WA. Accordingly, the Agency provides a workplace-based injury management and advisory service. This 
service is available to employees who suffer work-related injuries/illness in accordance with the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA) and, where applicable, to those employees who 
suffer a non work-related injury or illness which may be impacted by or upon their work.

Landgate aims through the development and implementation of an effective Safety management system in 
accordance with AS/NZS 4801:2001 Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems – specification 
with guidance for use; to eliminate hazards at the source and exceed the safety indicator targets specified 
in the Public Sector Commissioners Circular 2009-11.

Formal mechanism for consultation with employees on occupational safety and health, and injury 
management matters 

Landgate has established a scheme for OSH representation in accordance with section 30 of the Act. 
OSH Representatives, elected via a formal democratic process, represent groupings of employees 
formed in consideration to location, job role and corporate structure. Details of the various workgroups 
and representatives are provided to employees via a flier, maintained by the HR Specialist - OSH and 
made available via the dedicated OSH Pages on the staff intranet. OSH representatives are available to all 
members of their workgroups to consult and liaise, report safety concerns, and provide representation on 
safety and health matters.

The Landgate OSH Committee consists of both management and employee representatives. Members of 
the committee include OSH Representatives from each of the defined workgroups along with employer 
representatives including the HR Specialist - OSH, Audit and Risk, Facilities and Customer Service 
managers alongside a nominated General Manager. The Committee meets on a six weekly basis. It provides 
a mechanism for developing safety systems, policies and procedures and for discussion of safety issues 
that have a significant impact on the organisation.
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Occupational Safety, Health And Injury Management - cont.
A statement of compliance with the injury management requirements of the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981

Landgate’s Injury Management Policy and associated process has been established to document the 
Authority’s policy and procedures in relation to the management of both work related and non-work related 
employee illness and injury. The policy and its associated procedures contribute towards compliance with 
the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA), Occupational Safety and Health Act 
1984 (WA) and the WorkCover WA Guidelines for Injury Management. The policy and process is available to 
all employees via the policy register accessible from the staff intranet.

Landgate’s HR Specialist – OSH holds formal qualifications in the coordination of injury management, acts 
as a primary contact  and oversees the establishment, coordination and monitoring of formal return to work 
or injury management plans, in accordance with the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act and the Landgate Policy and Process.

Occupational safety and health management systems 

Landgate recognises the benefits of a continuous improvement OSH Management system based upon best 
practice standards.

The Authority  also recognises that an integral part of continuous improvement OSH management systems 
is a comprehensive ongoing auditing process. In December 2010 Landgate engaged the services of an 
external accredited consultancy to perform a thorough independent audit of its safety management system 
to the requirements of AS 4801:2000, AS4804:2000 and best practice safety standards. The audit scope 
was aligned to WA’s WorkSafe Plan, WorkSafe Victoria’s SafetyMap and ComCare’s National Audit tools.

Landgate welcomes the audit findings as a basis for further development of its OSH management system.
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Occupational Safety, Health And Injury Management - cont.
Safety Performance

Managers training in occupational safety, health and injury management responsibilities

Training provided in 2009/10 took the form of educational workshops facilitated by a nationally recognised 
training organisation. Course material was adapted from several nationally recognised units and internal 
training packages in order to meet Landgate’s specific needs.

Recently Landgate has introduced an electronic facility for training managers and supervisors in their role 
and responsibilities in relation to OSH and Injury management. The provision of electronic training options 
is a significant initiative. It forms part of Landgate’s commitment to improving the knowledge and skills of 
its employees. 

Access to the course will be made available to any Landgate staff in a supervisory role, with responsibility 
for the provision of workplace facilities or may influence decisions likely to affect work safety.

Performance

Key Performance Indicator Target (2009/2010) 2009/2010 2010/2011

Number of Fatalities Zero (0) 0 0

Lost time injury or disease incidence rate 
Zero (0) or 10% reduction on 
the previous year 0 0.22

Lost time injury severity rate 
Zero (0) or 10% improvement 
on the previous year 0 0

Percentage of injured workers returned to 
work within 28 weeks

Actual percentage result to 
be reported 100% N/A

Managers training in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities Greater than or equal to 50% 50% 57%

(N/A - Not Available)
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
Public Sector Management act 1994, S31 (1) 

Human Resource Management Standards, Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes Compliance 
Statement.

Statement of compliance issues and actions during 2010/11.

Landgate is committed to upholding the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the 
Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and Landgate’s Code of Conduct. We strive to reflect our 
values of community, creativity, celebration, sustainability, growth and learning and excellence in all that we 
do.

Public Sector Standards

The Standards are readily accessible on Landgate’s intranet. »

All recruitment and selection decisions are reviewed by independent officers to ensure compliance. »

Landgate runs regular training courses in areas such as recruitment and selection and grievance  »
management to ensure that Landgate officers are aware of their obligations.

Landgate’s Human Resource Business Partners work closely with the Units for education around the  »
revisions to Public Sector Standards, Commissioner’s Instructions, and the changing nature of the 
Public Sector Management Act.

Landgate fosters an environment where staff are comfortable talking about the standards and where  »
decisions are fair and equitable and capable of review.

No Breach of Standards claims were lodged during 2010/11. »

Appendix Six
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes - cont.
Ethics and Landgate’s Code of Conduct

The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct are readily available on Landgate’s intranet. »

The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct are made available and discussed during induction sessions  »
for new employees.

Staff are reminded of key ethical issues on a regular basis through the intranet, induction courses and  »
workshops.

Ninety per cent of Landgate staff have taken part in the Ethical and Accountable Decision-Making  »
Workshops held throughout 2010/11 as continued from the previous financial year.

Two breaches of the Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct were found during 2010/11, resulting in two  »
formal reprimands.

Mike Bradford
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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Advertising (Market Research, Polling Direct Mail, Media and Recruitment Advertising) 

The Electoral Act 1907 – section 175ZE

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority incurred the following expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising.

Total expenditure for 2010/11 was1. $338,825.94

The expenditure was incurred in the following areas:2. 

Advertising Agencies $198,864.21

Mitchell & Partners Australia Pty Ltd 136,465.81

Linc Integrated Marketing(Formidable Pty Ltd) 41,126.03

Longtail Communications Pty Ltd 18,255.96

Adcorp 2,209.01

Brand & Profile Multi-Disciple Design 807.40

Market Research Organisations 129,907.79

Painted Dog Research Pty Ltd 110,242.00

Google Ireland 6,000.00

Direct Mail organisations  

Quickmail 9,317.38

Zipform 4,348.41
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Media Advertising & Planning Organisations 9,317.40

Ergo Strategic Media Consultancy 3,520.00

Online On Hold 3,359.40

Media Highway 88.00

DMG Radio - Nova 93.7 1,485.00

Countryman - The Voice To The Bush Since 1885 865.00

Recruitment Advertising 736.54

Adcorp 736.54

Other Nil

Nil Nil

Advertising (Market Research, Polling Direct Mail, Media and Recruitment Advertising) - cont.
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Sponsorship  

Curtin University 

Schema Evolution Schema evolution is a fundamental aspect of information and database management 
systems. It stems from the need to update the data model to meet changing business needs and rectify 
errors in the original schema. This research studies its impact in a federated spatial database environment. 
The aim is to provide a solution, so that Landgate can manage geographic database schema changes more 
effectively. 

Curtin University

High Water Mark is a dynamic water boundary used around the world to define the legal extent of coastal 
land ownership and is the mathematical basis from which many analytical operations are performed for 
decision making purposes. 

However, the boundary between water and land is not a precise boundary, in both physical position and 
legal definition. The influences on a tidal boundary are many, from gravitational and centrifugal forces acting 
on the earth to the many local variations that can shape a tide. From this active interface between water and 
land, a surveyor must determine a precise boundary. 

The determination of High Water Mark for land titling purposes by ground methods is an expensive task. The 
current method of determination relies on obtaining special surveys by licensed surveyors using traditional 
surveying measurement techniques. For the less exacting requirements of crown land and general mapping, 
photogrammetric methods are more commonly used. Because of its variable nature, regular calculations 
and updating of HWM is difficult and expensive and only conducted for new land developments to determine 
land ownership extent. Resurveys are only undertaken for land ownership disputations or when coastal 
regions have undergone significant change due to storms or dredging operations. 

With the impact of climate change and subsidence, the need to be able to determine HWM consistently and 
on a yearly basis is becoming more crucial. 
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Sponsorship - cont.

Curtin University  

Landmarks – GPS Navigation (Design a landmark system for car navigation systems)
A landmark is a salient object that is used as a reference to help people memorise and recognise routes, and 
locate themselves in terms of their ultimate destination (Sorrows and Hirtle 1999). In this step, a research 
assistant will be hired to identify the types of landmarks, such as salient buildings, (McDonalds restaurant 
or hospitals, national, local and historic monuments) that will provide the most benefit to user navigation. 
Moreover, an honours student will identify landmark features, such as major permanent signs, bridges, lakes 
or rivers that could also be used. Selection criteria for choosing landmarks for navigation will be developed 
and a survey of users will be conducted to evaluate the system of landmarks devised. 

The fast-growing navigation industry could provide opportunities for Landgate with potentially enormous 
economic benefits by selling point of interest data or the systems utilising such data.  Landgate may also 
receive benefit through partnering with navigation companies as there are number of brands presently 
competing for market share.  If the navigation system based on landmarks proposed here proves successful, 
it will attract more users and will definitely benefit the overall industry and the sponsoring service brands.
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Recordkeeping Plans

Landgate’s Recordkeeping Plan 2009, required under s19 of the State Records Act 2000, was renewed 
by the State Records Commission on 7 April 2010 for a period of five years. The following information is 
provided as required by State Records Commission Standard 2 – Principle 6 – Compliance.

The efficiency and effectiveness of current recordkeeping systems were reviewed during the development of 
the Recordkeeping Plan 2009.  There have been no significant changes to the processes involving physical 
recordkeeping.  Landgate has been implementing an electronic document and records management system 
(eDRMS) since 2008.  The foundation framework such as naming conventions, record types, security model 
and role based access have been developed as well as a pilot introduction across two business areas.  The 
past year has seen expansion of the application through the assimilation of isolated records data sets, the 
management of document privacy/security resolved and the inclusion of a third business area within the 
system.  The resolution of document security and role based access during this period greatly enhance 
the ability to activate of a whole of Authority eDRMS infrastructure dependant. This project significantly 
progresses Landgate’s compliance for electronic records by supplying a resilient and auditable business 
control in record creation, revision and destruction.  

Online recordkeeping training was introduced in May 2005 for all employees.  The content has been reviewed 
and is still relevant and effective in imparting records Management requirements to staff.  The program is 
ongoing and now includes completion by significant contractors to Landgate.  In excess of 1,087 existing 
and past employees have been enrolled in the training that provides awareness of recordkeeping principles 
and issues and supports compliance with the Plan.  The training refers to Landgate’s recordkeeping policies 
that describe employees’ recordkeeping responsibilities.  

All new employees are enrolled as part of their induction training and required to complete the course within 
two months of enrolment. 92.85% of employees have completed the course with a further 1% currently 
undertaking the course. 

Training in the use of the records management system itself is also provided on an as needs basis. The 
role out of the eDRMS includes the establishment of “Records Super-users” within business areas who 
are comprehensively trained in both the eDRMS system and the underlying records business rules and 
processes.

Appendix Eight
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